Public Document Pack

People and Health Scrutiny Committee
Date:

Tuesday, 8 June 2021

Time:

10.00 am

Venue:

In accordance with the decision taken by Full
Council on 4 May 2021, this informal meeting will
take place virtually. Decisions will be made by the
appropriate officer following a ‘minded to’
decision by members of the committee.

Membership: (Quorum 3)
Gill Taylor (Chairman), Molly Rennie (Vice-Chairman), Rod Adkins, Jean Dunseith,
Barry Goringe, Nick Ireland, Robin Legg, Louie O'Leary, Mary Penfold and Bill Pipe

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road,
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)
For more information about this agenda please telephone Fiona King 01305 224186 fiona.king@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free public
app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once
downloaded select Dorset Council.
Due to the current coronavirus pandemic the Council has reviewed its approach to holding
committee meetings. Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting and listen
to the debate either online by using the following link:
People and Health Scrutiny Committee
Members of the public wishing to view the meeting from an iphone, ipad or android
phone will need to download the free Microsoft Team App to sign in as a Guest, it is
advised to do this at least 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting.
Please note that public speaking has been suspended. However Public Participation will
continue by written submission only. Please see detail set out below.
Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its
business whenever possible. A recording of the meeting will be available on the council’s
website after the event.

AGENDA
Page No.
1

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To disclose any pecuniary, other registerable or personal interest as
set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their disclosure
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their
declaration.
If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer
in advance of the meeting.

3

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee
from town and parish councils and members of the public.
Public speaking has been suspended for virtual committee meetings
during the Covid-19 crisis and public participation will be dealt with
through written submissions only.
Members of the public who live, work or represent an organisation
within the Dorset Council area, may submit up to two questions or a
statement of up to a maximum of 450 words. All submissions must be
sent electronically to fiona.king@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by the deadline
set out below. When submitting a question please indicate who the
question is for and include your name, address and contact details.
Questions and statements received in line with the council’s rules for
public participation will be published as a supplement to the
agenda.
Questions will be read out by an officer of the council and a response
given by the appropriate Portfolio Holder or officer at the meeting. All
questions, statements and responses will be published in full within the
minutes of the meeting.
The deadline for submission of the full text of a question or
statement is 8.30am on Thursday 3 June 2021.

4

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS
To receive any questions from members in accordance with procedure
rule 13. The deadline for the receipt of questions is Thursday 3 June
2021.

5

FOSTERING AND ADOPTION SERVICES ANNUAL REPORTS

5 - 86

To consider two reports from the Executive Director for People,
Children.
6

HOW HAS COVID-19 AFFECTED CHILDREN WITH SPECIAL
EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES AND THEIR
FAMILIES?

87 - 102

To consider a report from the Executive Director for People, Children.
7

PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY
A review of the relevant Dorset Council performance dashboard to
inform the Scrutiny Committee’s Forward Plan and identify items for
deep dives.

8

DRAFT JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY PROTOCOL

103 - 104

For Members to receive an update on the development of the BCP and
Dorset Joint Health Scrutiny Protocol. A draft of the protocol is
attached to this agenda including comments received to date, any
further updates will be reported to the Committee.
9

COMMITTEE AND CABINET FORWARD PLANS
To consider the Committee’s Forward Plan and the Cabinet’s Forward
Plan.

10

URGENT ITEMS
To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4)b)
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall
be recorded in the minutes.

11

EXEMPT BUSINESS
To move the exclusion of the press and public for the following item in

105 - 120

view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the meaning
of paragraph 3 of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as
amended).
The public and press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the item
of business is considered.

Agenda Item 5
People and Health Scrutiny Committee
8th June 2021
Fostering Service Annual Report
For Review and Consultation
Portfolio Holder:

Cllr A Parry, Children, Education, Skills and Early Help

Local Councillor(s):
Executive Director:

T Leavy, Executive Director of People - Children

Report Author: John Heron
Title: Fostering Services Lead
Tel: 01305 224664
Email: john.heron@dorsetcc.gov.uk
Report Status: Public
Recommendation: Committee are asked to consider and note the contents of
the Fostering Services Annual Report and comment on the strengths and future
recommendations
Reason for Recommendation:
To be assured that the report had identified strengths and areas for development
that will strengthen the work we do as Corporate Parents and ensure that
children and young people in the care of Dorset Council will be happy and safe
and have opportunities to reach their goals.
1.

Executive Summary

1.1 The Fostering Services Regulations 2011 require that the Fostering Services
provide written reports on the management, outcomes, and financial state of
the fostering service. This report provides an overview of activity from the last

Page 5

financial year, April 2020 to March 2021, and the plans from the service for
the forthcoming year (April 2021 to March 2022).
1.2 The report provides an overview of the areas of strength and areas for
development and modernisation within the fostering service focusing on:












Service Improvement Plan
Our current mainstream foster carers and the number of in-house
placements
Fostering Service restructure and drivers for change
Pre-approval team, complex needs and post approval team and types
of foster care
Recruitment and Marketing and incentives and events to attract new
foster carers
Fostering Panel
Support for our foster carers and celebrating their successes
Dorset Foster Care Association
Managing complaints and allegations
Training offer for foster carers
Budget

1.3 Whilst important to reflect on the successes and opportunities from the
previous year, the report also provides focus and detail as to the
strengthening fostering plan as highlighted in


1.4

Developments for 2021/2022
Strengthening Fostering Plan

This has been a busy and unprecedented year within the fostering service.
The Covid-19 virus has presented logistical challenges for service delivery
but has also brought out the very best in our foster carers. It is remarkable
that many foster carers were able to accept new placements and continue to
provide foster homes for children who need them.

1.5 Since the last annual report consideration has been given to the way in which
Dorset Council delivers the fostering service. Alternative delivery models
were considered, and due diligence work was completed. It was ultimately
decided that the service would remain in-house. The fostering service has
since undergone a restructure in line with the Blueprint for change
programme.
1.6 The Fostering Service has developed a Service Improvement Plan which will
ensure service delivery is monitored and continually improving. Since
November 2020 the service has been reviewed and areas for development

Page 6

have been identified. These have been included in the Service Improvement
Plan as detailed within this report.
2.

Financial Implications

None identified
3.

Well-being and Health Implications

None identified
4.

Climate implications

None identified
5.

Other Implications

At the beginning of 2020 a worldwide Pandemic started and on 23rd March 2020
the UK was advised that all unnecessary social contact should cease. The
pandemic continues and has impacted the way we have implemented our
statutory duties.
6.

Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has
been identified as:
Current Risk: N/A
Residual Risk: N/A
7.
N/A

Equalities Impact Assessment

8.

Appendices
None

9.

Background Papers

Please do not delete the footnote.
Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is
included within the report.

Page 7

1.

Introduction and Background

1.1

The Fostering Services Regulations 2011 require that the Fostering
Services provide written reports on the management, outcomes, and
financial state of the fostering service. This report provides an overview of
activity from the last financial year, April 2020 to March 2021, and the plans
from the service for the forthcoming year (April 2021 to March 2022).

2.

Executive Summary

2.1

This has been a busy and unprecedented year within the fostering service.
The Covid-19 virus has presented logistical challenges for service delivery
but has also brought out the very best in our foster carers. It is remarkable
that many foster carers were able to accept new placements and continue
to provide foster homes for children who need them.

2.2

Since the last annual report consideration has been given to the way in
which Dorset Council delivers the fostering service. Alternative delivery
models were considered, and due diligence work was completed. It was
ultimately decided that the service would remain in-house. The fostering
service has since undergone a restructure in line with the Blueprint for
change programme.

3.

Service Improvement Plan

3.1

The Fostering Service has developed a Service Improvement Plan which
will ensure service delivery is monitored and continually improving.

3.2

Since November 2020 the service has been reviewed and areas for
development have been identified. These have been included in the Service
Improvement Plan.

4.

Mainstream Foster Carers

4.1

Early in 2018 the Fostering Service began working with Whitehead Ross
Education and Consulting (WREC) to recruit mainstream foster carers. The
role of WREC has been to work with the Fostering Service and Corporate
Communications service to produce and implement a fostering recruitment
strategy, receive enquiries from the public about becoming a foster carer,
undertaking initial home visits where appropriate and encourage suitable
prospective foster carers to apply to foster. In November 2020 two Fostering
Social Workers were seconded to WREC from the Post-Approval team in
order to undertake foster carers assessments. However, this contract will
expire at the end of May 2021 these functions will revert to being delivered
in-house.

Page 8

4.2

In this reporting period, the Fostering Assessment Team and WREC have
recruited 20 new mainstream fostering households. In addition, 16 new
Connected Persons Foster Carers were approved bringing the total of new
foster carers for Dorset to 36.

4.3

As at 31 March 2021 there are a further 19 new mainstream fostering
assessments in progression. Of these 3 are with foster carers with IFA’
looking to transfer to Dorset. Additionally, 28 Connected Persons
assessments are in progress. This work will carry over into 2021/22.

4.4

In this reporting period, 19 foster families were deregistered from fostering
leaving an overall net gain of 1 mainstream household (17 including
Connected Persons).

5.

In-House Fostering Placements

5.1

On 31 March 2021 there were 218 children and young people living within
207 in house fostering placements.

5.2

Throughout the period 2020-21 27 households were temporarily approved
as connected persons foster carers under Regulation 24 of the Care
Planning Review and Placement Regulations 2010. Sixteen Connected
Persons households became fully approved Foster Carers.

5.3

In addition to statutory visiting requirements which have been carried out in
person wherever safe to do, the fostering service has provided weekly
check in calls to carers through periods of lockdown and a county wide,
virtual foster carers support group has been provided on a monthly basis.
Senior Managers have also facilitated a fortnightly foster carers touchdown
meeting. These virtual meetings have been well attended.

5.4

The Support offer to Foster Carers has been further enhanced by the
establishment of the Dorset Foster Carers Association.

6.

Fostering Service Restructure

6.1

The fostering service has recently undergone a significant restructure
alongside Dorset’s Blueprint for change programme.

6.2

Earlier in the reporting period consideration was given to alternative delivery
models for the fostering service. Work was undertaken with Mutual
Ventures as part of the Department of Digital, Culture and Sports (DCMS)
Mutual Support Programme to explore alternative delivery options for the
Fostering Service that would drive service improvements and improve
financial stability.

Page 9

7.

Drivers for Change

7.1

The drivers for change in the delivery of the fostering service in Dorset
included:


Improving outcomes for children through placing more children locally
enabling them to maintain relationships with friends, family, and
community



Delivering value for money: significant investment has been made in the
service, but this has not, yet, delivered anticipated reduction in spend
on external placements



Ability to compete in the market: current approaches to recruitment are
not delivering an increased number and range of local foster carers with
the skills and competencies required to meet our needs.



Supporting foster carer resilience: the current offer does not sufficiently
meet the needs of all carers, particularly those caring for the most
vulnerable, and a model that is based on best practice is needed



Ensuring there is a sufficient number of foster carers with the right skills
in the right location to enable appropriate matching

8.

Business Case

8.1

An Outline Business Case, which presented a range of options for the future
delivery of the Fostering Service, including in-house transformation and a
range of externalisation approaches was considered by the Children’s
Services Leadership Team in December 2019 and approval was given to
develop a Full Business Case for the preferred option, the creation of
Corporate Joint Venture between Dorset Council and an external partner.

8.2

The rationale for this was that whilst the creation of a Corporate Joint
Venture requires initial investment and investment of time it would enable
the service improvement to be delivered by experts, support an increased
commercial focus and enable innovation to deliver improved outcomes for
children, young people and foster carers and contribute significantly to
reductions in spend on placement costs. There was a concern that historic
attempts to improve the service in-house had not been effective and that an
external partnership would prove beneficial, and a desire to ensure that
Dorset Council still retained some element of control over the delivery of
this important service.

8.3

The Full Business Case was presented to the Children’s Services
Leadership Team in August 2020. It was apparent by this stage that the

Page 10

decision to restrict the scope of the case to considering a corporate joint
venture had been unnecessarily restrictive. Market engagement had given
mixed feedback from providers. It was decided that the establishment of a
corporate joint venture would not be pursued because

8.4



The process carried a level of risk and uncertainty around any potential
partner



Further investment was required



There was insufficient confidence in the savings and benefits which had
been identified

As a result, the fostering service was restructured under the scope of the
Blueprint for Change.
The fostering service consists of three teams:


Pre-Approval Team



Post-Approval



Post Approval Complex Needs

8.5

Each team has a Team Manager who currently reports to the Fostering
Transformation Consultant.

9.

Pre- Approval Team

9.1

The Pre-Approval Team has 6 full time equivalent (fte) workers. These
workers undertake all Connected Persons Viability Assessments for
temporary approvals under Regulating 24 of the Care Planning Review and
Placement Regulations 2010 and Full Connected Persons Fostering
Assessments and mainstream fostering assessments under the Fostering
Agency Regulation 2011. Currently each fostering assessment worker
carries a caseload of 6 assessments at any one time.

9.2

These workers also provide supervision and support to those temporarily
approved foster carers as required by the National Minimum Standards in
Foster Carer 2011.

9.3

The Pre-Assessment team also works closely with WREC who have since
October, been undertaking mainstream fostering assessments.

10.

Complex Needs and Post Approval Teams

10.1

Prior to the September 2020 reorganisation both post approval teams had
the same remit but were geographically based. Following the restructure

Page 11

one team has become the Complex Needs Post Approval Team. This is still
a work in progress. It is planned that this team will be responsible for the
support, supervision, and training of the most experienced foster carers who
will be able to offer robust and tenacious foster homes for children with the
more complex needs. The team is linked to The Harbour Project and is
supporting our first Harbour Foster Family Carers. They will continue to
provide this support to other Harbour Specialist foster carers as we add to
our numbers of these carers. We plan to have 10 Harbour Foster Families
by March 2022.
10.2

It is also planned that the Complex Needs Post Approval Team will support
foster carers caring for teenagers and other children with additional needs.

10.3

Currently the two Post Approval Teams have a total of 15 staff between
them. The workforce is made up of a mixture of full and part-time staff. In
aggregate, there is the equivalent of 11.25 fte Fostering Social Workers
within the team (417 Fte hrs). The Complex Needs team has 4.3fte and the
Post Approval team has 4.8fte.

10.4

However, 2 part time workers (42.5 hrs) have been seconded to WREC, to
undertake foster carer assessments. Fostering Social Workers currently
hold caseloads of 20 fostering households per fte worker (pro-rata).

10.5

A third, full time (37 hrs) worker acts in the role of Fostering Panel Advisor
and is therefore non-caseholding. This leaves 337.5 hrs or 9.12 fte FSW’s
time across the post approval teams.

10.6

Two of these workers are on temporary contracts until June 2021.

Post Approval Fostering
Support

Post Approval Complex
Fostering Support

Fostering Assessment
Team

1x TM

1xTM

1xTM

4.8 Fte SW

1 x AP Panel Advisor

(Does not include worker
seconded to WREC)

4.3 Fte SW

6 x FTE Assessment
Workers



Mainstream Foster Carer
Supervision and Support







Connected Persons Foster
care Supervision and

Mainstream Foster
Carer Support
Supervision and

Reg 24 Viability
Assessments with
CSW’s



Harbour Fostering



Reg25 Extensions

(This does not worker
seconded to WREC)

Page 12

Support


Foster carer Training and
Development



Support Groups



Foster care Annual
Reviews



Placement service



Long term matching within
house carers



Support Groups





Support



Connected Persons
Foster care Supervision
and Support

Reg 27 Assessments
using form C



Court reports where
required



Respond to enquiries



Initial visits



Mainstream Form F
Fostering Assessments

Foster carer Training
and Development



Support Groups



Foster care Annual
Reviews



Placement service



Long term matching
within house carers



Support Groups

10.7

Whilst it is understood that substantial investment was made by the council
in 2017 under the Modernising Fostering initiative the majority of this money
went towards the funding of a new foster carer payment system which
increased foster carer payments and ensured that Dorset Council fostering
service is financially competitive in the marketplace. Since this time there is
no evidence of any foster carers leaving Dorset Council to join an
Independent Fostering Agency for financial reasons.

10.8

A discussion paper is being prepared for CSLT to discuss the staffing needs
of the fostering service to ensure good levels of support to foster carers and
therefore to assist placement stability.

10.9

The fostering service aims to provide a high-quality responsive childcentred service in relation to its core functions and to recruit new foster
carers from the community. We prepare applicants through training to be
able to deal with the range of issues that foster carers face when looking
after children.

10.10 The service assesses a range of foster carer applicants i.e. Mainstream
Foster Carers, Connected Persons Carers and Parent and Child, Short
Breaks etc. The service undertakes comprehensive assessments and
checks to ensure that prospective carers are suitable and can carry out their
role. The service supervises, supports and develops carer’s skills and
knowledge in order that they promote and achieve the highest standards of
care, safeguarding and outcomes for children in care.

Page 13

11. Types of Foster Care
11.1

The types of Foster Care offered includes:












Short Term/Time Limited: Time limited placements across all skills
Levels. However, level 4 carers would be expected to undertake
assessments on children and young people in their care or undertake
specified tasks.
Long Term: Planned, permanent placements across Skills levels. Level
4 carers would be expected to provide permanent placements for
children with significantly complex needs or challenging behaviours.
Respite: Planned, child needs led support for placements and agreed
support for carers across skills levels.
Support Care: Part of a package of support (including day care and
child minding) where carers provide planned time limited support to
maintain children with their current foster placements and to prevent
placement breakdown.
Children with Disabilities: Short Term / Short Breaks provision and
Long Term (Permanent) placements for children with disabilities.
Kinship Care & Connected Persons: Planned and Court approved
placements for children and young people within their wider network
including family members or other with whom children have an existing
and positive relationship.
Parent and Child: Parent and child fostering is a specialist type of
supportive fostering where a parent, often a mother and their baby, can
learn parenting skills and foster carers are able to assess of the parent's
capabilities.

12. Recruitment and Marketing
12.1 Early in 2018 the Fostering Service, began working with Whitehead Ross
Education and Consulting (WREC) to recruit mainstream foster carers. The
role of WREC has been to work with Fostering Service and Corporate
Communications service to produce and implement a fostering recruitment
strategy to attract and receive enquiries from the public about becoming a
foster carer, undertake initial home visits where appropriate and encourage
suitable prospective foster carers to apply to foster.
12.2 In October 2020 WREC began undertaking the assessments of prospective
foster carers when two fostering social workers were seconded to the
company from the fostering service. However, this contract will expire at the
end of May 2021 and these functions will revert to being delivered in-house.

Page 14

13. Initiatives and Events
13.1 Throughout the year there have been a number of initiatives and events
designed to recruit new foster carers for Dorset children. Due the current
pandemic the vast majority of this has been conducted online. Alongside
advertising on social media and the corporate website events have included
 Drop-in and Chat events hosted on zoom. These events have been held
at least weekly and provide an informal opportunity for new enquirers to
chat with existing foster carers, social workers, panel members etc.
 Live Chats and Interviews, particularly during the first lockdown period.
These discussed a range of pertinent subject matters to generate reach
and general engagement. e.g. Live Well Dorset, SuperKids Webeing,
Friends of Dorset Care Leavers, South West Recruitment, Foster Carers
and live Q&A.
 Online Information Sessions/Introduction to Fostering. Featuring foster
carers video interviews, blogs, written case studies. Discussions regarding
Work commitments and Fostering, Fostering Siblings, Being a single Male
Foster Carer and Care experienced young people’s interviews – ‘Paige’s
Top Tips’.
13.2 The service has also worked with the South West Regional Local Authorities
to run joint recruitment campaigns online. #fosterforyourcouncil. These have
included;
 September – Social Media posts directed at myth busting ideas about
fostering, followed by ‘Why foster for your council? This included daily
quotes from foster carers
 December – Christmas Countdown – 24 videos and quotes based on what
fostering means at Christmas.
 January – All walks of life – daily videos and quotes about what careers
foster carers have had or still have alongside fostering.
13.3 The next joint campaign is due to run in April and will focus on attracting foster
carers for teenagers.
14. Outcomes
14.1 In the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 WREC received 248 enquiries
from the public seeking information about becoming a foster carer. The team
completed 131 Initial Visits (IV’s) and 20 new fostering households were
approved.

Page 15

14.2 As at 31 March 2021 there are a further 19 new mainstream fostering
assessments in progression. Of these 3 are with foster carers with IFA’s
looking to transfer to Dorset.
Additionally, 28 Connected Persons
assessments are in progress.

Enquiries 248
April

May

June July Aug

Sept Oct

Nov Dec Jan

Feb

March

20

42

19

16

27

20

20

19

Initial
Visits

131

April

May

June July Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov Dec Jan

Feb

March

12

20

14

12

12

11

11

7

Invited
Apply

13

6

13

9

19

5

23

12

to 87

April
11

May

June July Aug

Sept Oct

Nov Dec Jan

Feb

March

19

11

5

7

6

3

5

3

7

3

7

20
Approvals
April
0

May

June July Aug

Sept Oct

Nov Dec Jan

Feb

March

1

0

2

4

3

3

1

0

2

2

2

15. Fostering Panel
15.1 Under the Fostering Service (England) 2011 Regulations Fostering Services
are required to appoint a foster panel. Under Regulation 25 the fostering
panel is required to:
 To make a recommendation as to whether the applicant is suitable to be a
foster carer and the terms of the approval.
 To consider the first annual review for newly approved foster carers, as
well as reviews following the managing allegations process, and where
foster carers are seeking a change in the terms of their registration status.

Page 16

 To recommend whether or not a person remains suitable to be a foster
carer, and whether the terms of their approval (if any) remain appropriate.
 To give advice or make recommendations, on other matters or cases
referred to it by the fostering service provider, including terminations of
approval.
 The fostering panel must also advise, where appropriate, on the
procedures under which reviews in accordance with Reg. 28 are carried
out by the fostering service provider, and periodically monitor their
effectiveness.
15.2 In addition, the National Minimum Standards 2011 requires that:
 Panels provide a quality assurance feedback to the fostering service
provider on the quality of reports being presented and the timeliness of
assessments and decisions.
15.3 Fostering panel is held on consecutive days once a fortnight i.e. Tuesday and
Wednesday every other week. In the future it is planned that panels will be
held weekly. This will even out the administrative load on business support
and reduce waiting time if a case is needed to be presented urgently.
15.4 The panel has a ‘central list’ of 14 members who attend on a rota basis. A
panel is quorate when at least 5 members are in attendance. This must
include the Chairperson, a Social Worker and at least three other members.
15.5 As a result of the pandemic in 2020-21 the fostering panel has met virtually.
This has had an impact on the number of cases being presented to panel
because of the technical challenges involved of panel Members, social
workers and foster carers logging in to meetings and the trials of internet
stability. Dorset has also increased the number of panel members available
to each panel to allow for IT issues and dropout rates.
In the reporting period the panel met 48 time and heard 176 cases.
2020 -2021
Number of panels

48

New Approvals

20

Connected Persons

16

Regulation 25 Extension

12

(Connected Persons)

Page 17

Resignations/Deregistration

3

Matches

44 Children

Reviews

68

Total number of actual cases presented 176

15.6 It would be true to say that following the reorganisation of the fostering service
in September 2020 there have been some difficulties with panel
administration. Unfortunately, a combination of changes of personnel and
staff sickness meant that the planned handover period to new staff was
curtailed. This resulted in some difficulties until the new staff were able to
become familiar with the processes systems required by panel. Since this
time panel processes have been reviewed and are now managed by a single
team of administrators. Social work staff have also been made aware of the
deadlines necessary in order to ensure all necessary documentation is
available for panel.
16. Dorset Approved Fostering Households and Beds (31st March 2021)
16.1 As at the 31st of March 2021 there were 453 children who were being looked
after by Dorset Council. Of these 326 or 72% of all children in care were being
looked after by foster carers either through an Independent Fostering Agency
(IFA) or with Dorset’s own in-house fostering service. Of all children in care
48% were placed with Dorset in-house foster carers.
16.2 Of the 326 children in foster care, 218 (or 67%) were placed within Dorset
Council Foster Carers and 108 (33%) were placed with IFA carers.
The table below shows the number of approved households by type, the
optimum number of registered placements and the number of placements
used by type
Type of Fostering Household

Mainstream

Total Number
of Fostering
Households

Total Number
of Beds

Total Number
of Children
Placed

148

286

144

Including Parent and Child

Page 18

Kinship Foster Carers

57

80

72

Foster for Adoption

3

3

2

207

369

218

Total number of Households

16.3 The combined number of all types of approved fostering households
including Short Breaks, Kinship Care and Supported Lodgings, is 207. The
optimum number of placements provided through the Fostering Service is
369, and the number of fostering beds used was 218.
16.4 The current utilisation rate of foster children to fostering households is 1.05.
This is low. However, this number is inflated by the number of fostering
households with fostering beds on hold due to fostering families shielding or
other covid-19 related issues.
16.5 Fostering households are approved for one, two or three children. Often the
approval can be for one or two if siblings. This is usually due to bedroom
space available and in Dorset we allow siblings (if appropriate) to share
bedrooms. For the purposes of reporting the number of beds approved, the
maximum number is reported. On the 31st March 2021 there were 151
fostering beds not in use.
16.6 It is unlikely that a fostering agency will be able to use all the fostering beds
the agency has registered. There are two reasons for fostering beds not being
used. These are, that the beds are available but waiting for a child to be
appropriately matched or, the foster carers have beds on hold.
16.7 Foster carers can be on hold for a number of reasons, for example, the foster
carers may request that they are put on hold due to health issues or due to
personal or family circumstances. Foster carers can also be placed on hold
by the service due to complaints or safeguarding concerns. It is also common
for fostering households not to be used to the maximum number of beds they
have available because of the needs of children already placed with them.
16.8 It is important to differentiate between fostering households that have
vacancies and have no foster children placed (primary vacancies) and those
that have vacant beds but do have other foster children in place (secondary
vacancies). Likewise, fostering households that are on hold without any foster
children placed have primary beds on hold and those that have children in
placements but have additional unused beds have secondary beds on hold.

Page 19

16.9 On the 31st March 2021 21 fostering households have 23 vacancies between
them. Of these, 10 households have 12 primary vacancies between them and
of these 7 beds were only available for respite care. Three were available for
children under the age of 5 and 2 were available for teenagers and were in
the process of being matched. Of the secondary vacancies 6 were for
children under 10, 3 were for respite alongside the existing foster child. 2
were available for older children but require careful matching alongside.
16.10Examples of why fostering households were on hold included; Covid-related
issues (18), on hold to resume short breaks for specific children after
lockdown (2) other health related issues (7), matching consideration
regarding placing children alongside another child (8), taking a break
following adoption of foster child (2), break after complex placement (2)
personal issues (8) placed on hold by the fostering service (4).
16.11Carers on hold due to Covid-19 have expressed a willingness to return to
fostering once the second vaccine has been given.
17. Fostering Reviews
17.1The foster carer’s annual review of approval, addresses all relevant aspects
of the National Minimum Fostering Standards and Regulations 2011. The
reviews are initiated by the Fostering Social Worker with a written summary
of achievements and significant events within the foster carer’s home over
the preceding year. A Fostering Independent Reviewing Officer convenes
and chairs an independent annual review meeting. A report is then either
presented to Panel and endorsed by the Fostering Panel Agency Decision
Maker or submitted to the Senior Manager for Fostering who is the Agency
Decision Maker for non-Panel reviews. All the completed reviews are
scrutinised by the relevant Team Managers who monitor compliance with the
regulations before final agreement.
17.2 The Fostering review process is currently being revised in order to streamline
the procedure and ensure continued compliance with the Regulations. Is this
fair to add continued compliance?
17.3 The current process of fostering reviews includes Personal Development
Plans, feedback from children and young people, their social workers and
other professionals working with the fostering household as well as obtaining
the views from the carers own children.

Page 20

18. Foster Carers Support
18.1 As mentioned elsewhere in this report 2020-2021 has been full of
unprecedented challenges for foster carers. Foster carers have valued more
than ever the contact and support they have received for Dorset Council.
Foster carers have particularly appreciated that Dorset Council agreed that
Foster carers should be included in the first wave of Covid vaccines as frontline workers. They also appreciated that an extra payment was made during
the main lockdown periods of April 2020 and January 2021.
19. Support Groups
19.1 In more usual times the fostering service provide a number of local support
groups for foster carers throughout the county. However, as a consequence
of the Covid pandemic these support groups have been paused and a county
wide support group has been established online. These meetings are held
on the first Monday of each month and have been well attended.
19.2 In addition, during the pandemic senior managers have held touchdown
meetings with foster carers every fortnight, alternating evening and daytime
meetings. Again, these meetings have been well attended by foster carers
who tell us they value them.
19.3 The fostering support groups enable foster carers to meet with their peers
and form supportive relationships to help them understand their fostering role
and share their experiences and provide opportunities to develop their
knowledge and skills. Various speakers have been invited in the past to the
foster carer support groups to talk about specific topics and offer any
information about local activities within the community. Minutes from the
support groups are sent to all foster carers regardless of their attendance so
they are kept informed.
19.4 It is our intention to re-instate foster carers support groups as face-to-face
meeting in line with the governments roadmap as we come out of the current
covid restrictions.
20. Therapeutic Support
20.1 The Fostering Team work in partnership with the Clinical Commissioning
Group to promote the emotional wellbeing of fostered children and young
people. A total of 18.5 hours of Clinical Psychology support is provided
through 2 part time clinical psychologists. The clinical psychologists work
predominately with the foster carers as the agent of change to provide trauma
informed strategies to meet the emotional wellbeing needs of children and to

Page 21

help manage behaviour. The psychologists hold regular surgeries which can
be attended by foster carers and/or fostering social workers alike. They will
also undertake short interventions directly with children where this is an
identified need.
21. Child’s Voice
21.1 The Fostering Service actively seeks to support children and young people
to share their views about how they are being cared for and supported by the
fostering service and wider directorate.
21.2 Children and young people are invited to comment about the support they
are receiving from their foster carers, including support for family time with
their birth family and friends and support with education ahead of their
statutory child in care reviews. In addition, children are consulted with as part
of the foster carers annual review.
21.3 The fostering social worker also aims to see children and young people in
person when they are undertaking unannounced visits to fostering
households. This will usually involve the Fostering Social Worker talking with
the child or young person to ensure they are safe and happy within the foster
home.
21.4 Children in foster care also have access to a Children’s Advocates. This
service is provided independently through Action for Children. The Advocacy
service can help children or young people to explore and express their
opinions and be heard.
21.5 The Participation People undertake an annual Children in Care survey in
order to receive feedback from Children and Young People. As at the 30th
March 2021 32 completed surveys have been returned from children aged 5
to 10 and 52 have been received from the over 11s. The final results and
analysis of the survey will be reported to the Corporate Parenting Board in
June 2021.
21.6 The fostering service meets regularly with the Participation People. The
group meets fortnightly. The group runs three Children in Carer Councils;
 Junior in Care Council for children aged 5 to 10 years
 Children in Care Council for Children and Young People aged 11 to 15
years
 Care Leavers Council for young people aged 16+

Page 22

21.7 Young People from the Children in Care Councils contribute to the fostering
recruitment process by participating in the ‘Journey to Fostering’ training
provided to all prospective foster carers.
21.8 The Children in Care Councils and the Fostering Service are also exploring
how we can work together to enhance training provided for existing foster
carers.
21.9 Young people and Care Leavers have also worked closely with the Harbour
Project and the Fostering Service to identify qualities and develop a profile
for prospective Community Foster Family Carers to be used in the targeted
recruitment of Harbour Foster Carers.
22. Delegated authority
22.1 Children in care have often stated that they are treated differently to their
peers who are not in care and foster carers have also been concerned that
they have not been able to make the same decisions for their foster children
as they can for their birth children. This can lead to tensions within the
household.
22.2 In 2020/21 Dorset Council Children’s Services have worked to ensure that
foster carers have delegated authority to make certain decisions for the
children they care for. A delegated authority agreement is completed at the
point of the initial placement planning meeting which provides clarity and
enables foster carers to make common sense, everyday decisions about the
children and young people they care for, for example allowing them to go to
friends' houses for sleepovers, signing consent forms for school trips and
even arranging haircuts.
23. Dorset Foster Carer’s Association (DFCA)
23.1 The Dorset Foster Carer’s Association was formed in March 2021 by some
of the foster carers from Dorset. The association is constituted with a
Chairperson, a Vice-Chair, Treasurer and Secretary. Jan Hill has been
appointed by the Association to be Chairperson, Martin Hill is Vice Chair,
Kayleigh Barguss is Treasurer and Mandy Jarvis is Secretary. A Service
Level Agreement has been drafted for use between Dorset County Council
and The Foster Carers Association.
23.2 The aim of the DFCA is to raise the profile of all foster carers and to ensure
that they are viewed as professionals by social workers and colleagues
working with children that are looked after by Dorset Council.
The DFCA will:

Page 23








Provide strong channels of communication between the Fostering Service
and the Association
Work in partnership with Corporate Parenting and Fostering Services
Seek to improve all aspects of fostering
Promote good practice
Represent foster carers as a group
Organise support and social events for foster carers

23.3 The formation of the DFCA will raise the profile of DC foster carers, advance
foster carers views and recommendations regarding the Fostering Service
and support carers to provide to provide high quality care for the children they
look after.
23.4 Currently the DFCA are in the process of setting up a website for all Foster
Carers to access information regarding various issues and topics and for
them to leave their views in relation to any fostering matters. This will ensure
that there are robust channels of communication and feedback from foster
carers to senior managers.
24. Peer Mentoring
24.1 As well as offering the fostering support groups and touchdown meetings the
fostering service also operates an informal peer mentoring/buddy scheme
where identified foster carers offer support and guidance to all newly
approved or less experienced foster carers.
24.2 The mentors/buddies are experienced, with at least five years of fostering
experience and are approved at skills level 3 and above.
The mentors/buddies offer their experience in all different types of fostering:






from moving babies on to adoption
to adolescent/teenage management and support
long term foster care
parent and child placements
caring for children with disabilities

24.3 The identification of mentors/buddies is established by the fostering social
workers who know the carers best and where their skills sit and is also
influenced by the demographic/location within Dorset.
24.4 Mentoring remains a valuable resource aspect of fostering and mentees
continue to offer positive feedback in relation to support received by them
from the mentor.

Page 24

25. Long Service Awards
25.1 In October 2020, foster carers, children and young people attended the
annual Star Awards event with foster carers receiving awards in recognition
of the outstanding care they have provided and in recognition of length of
time they have fostered for Dorset Council. Eighteen foster carers received
awards for fostering for Dorset Council for 15, 20, 25 and in one case 45
years. Fifteen ‘children who foster’ were also recognised with awards at the
event. Unfortunately, due to the pandemic the awards ceremony was held
virtually but was still successfully inspiring. We are looking forward to holding
the next event in person, Covid allowing.
26. Complaints and Allegations
26.1 The Fostering Service always takes any complaints and allegations against
foster carers very seriously and all complaints and allegations are thoroughly
investigated. Wherever possible we will attempt to resolve complaints
informally, but these can be escalated should the complainant remain
dissatisfied.
26.2 All Allegations against foster carers are referred to the LADO and are
thoroughly investigated
27. Complaints
27.1 There were 7 complaints about the fostering service.
Two of these were from children, one upset about a foster carer regarding
contact. This complaint was resolved informally.
The other complaint from a child concerned her previous foster carer. This
complaint is current and ongoing at the time of writing.
Two complaints were made by birth parents concerning care of their children.
One of these complaints was resolved informally. The other is ongoing.
One complaint was received from Grandparents who have applied to become
connected foster carers. The Grandparents have referred to the Independent
Review Mechanism (IRM) to appeal against the Agency Decision Makers
decision not to approve their application.
Two further complaints were received from foster carers. Both complaints
were resolved informally by meeting with the foster carers who did not wish
to pursue the complaint any further and where satisfied with the outcomes.

Page 25

28. Allegations
28.1 During this reporting period there were 25 referrals to the Designated Officer
(aka LADO) concerning foster carers during this reporting period. Ten of
these were did not meet the allegation threshold and were therefore closed.
28.2 After deliberation with the LADO 10 were considered to be unfounded.
Four were substantiated and appropriate actions taken. After formal reviews
3 carers were reapproved at fostering panel subject to additional training etc.
The fourth carers approval was terminated and a referral was made to the
Disclosure Barring Service (DBS)
One new allegation is current and ongoing.
29. Foster Carer Training
29.1 In 2020 – 2021 227 foster carers enrolled on 38 e-learning courses. In
addition, there were 25 courses offered in a virtual face to face format and
these were attended by 224 foster carers.
29.2 Most foster carers tell us that they enjoy and value the training they have
received however, some very experienced foster carers tell us they would
like some more advance courses. The new foster carers training handbook
is currently in development and will cater for this request.
30. Budget
30.1 The 2020/21 budget for Inhouse Fostering Fees & Allowances totalled
£5.2M funding an average of 231 placements during the year.
30.2 Placements were consistently below this level and an estimated
underspend of £1.1M is forecast.
30.3 It is anticipated that usage of in-house provision will increase it the coming
year as the COvid-19 restrictions are lifted, foster carers receive second
vaccinations and in-house placement availability is improved through the
recruitment of foster carers more able to meet the sufficiency needs of
Dorset children.
31. SWAP audit
31.1 A SWAP audit was undertaken December 2019. Please find below the
recommendations made and updates:
31.2 We recommend that the Corporate Director Care & Protection ensures that
the current contract monitoring meetings that take place focus on scrutiny of
performance with actions agreed where performance falls below targets. If

Page 26

the contract continues to be provided by an external supplier after March
2020, meaningful targets and KPIs need to be agreed at the outset of the
contract and scrutinised at monthly contract management meetings with the
supplier and DC officers working together to agree actions where
performance falls below what is expected.
31.3 Progress- Key Performance Indicators were established for the recruitment
of foster carers, for the WREC contract and following 31st May 2021 when
the recruitment function return to the fostering service. WREC and the
fostering service have worked well together are on track with the
recruitment of cares as detailed within this report and are confident to
recruitment 20 new fostering households in the financial year 2021/2022.
31.4 We recommend that the Corporate Director Care & Protection decides
which Board or Group within the Children's Service Directorate is to provide
oversight of the progress and performance of the Modernising Fostering
Programme. Regular reports providing an update on performance should
then be provided which should be scrutinised with actions agreed where
performance falls below what is expected.
31.5 Progress- Reports are provided to the Strengthening Services Board,
Corporate Parenting Board on a 6 monthly basis and monthly at Children’s
Services Performance Board. These reports will also be accompanied from
now on with a fostering dashboard. This work is all undertaken by the
Fostering Steering Group.
31.6 We recommend that the Corporate Director Care & Protection ensures that
a full appraisal exercise is carried out, analysing in full the benefits that
have been realised from the Modernising Fostering Programme. The results
of this exercise should assist to inform the decision that is made regarding
the future delivery model for the fostering service as part of the Blueprint for
Change proposal.
31.7 Progress- A full appraisal was undertaken to inform the mutual ventures
work and Blueprint for Change. This is turn is supporting the current
Strengthening Fostering Plan.
31.8 Once the full appraisal exercise has been carried out, the Corporate
Director Care & Protection should ensure that a report is presented to
Members, providing an update of the progress of the Modernising Fostering
Programme, the expected benefits, details of those that have been realised
together with those which have not yet been realised. The report should
also include details of how the recruitment of foster carers is to be provided
once the current contract expires in March 2020.

Page 27

31.9 Progress- This report, shared with Corporate Parenting Board and People
and Scrutiny Committee is by way of member update. In March 2021 a
presentation was also shared with Corporate Parenting Board members to
update on the Strengthening Fostering Plan by the Corporate Director Cdre
and Protection.
32.

Summary

32.1 The fostering service has had a busy year helping to place and support
children with foster carers in the midst of a pandemic. Staff and foster carers
have risen to the challenge, adapted and found new ways of working to
enable us to continue our essential tasks to provide safe and loving homes
for our children. Although visits to foster carers homes have continued
wherever safe and appropriate some visits and the support groups have been
undertaken virtually. The Fostering Panel too moved online and managed to
hear 176 cases during the reporting period. We have learned from these
experiences and will take the lessons forward. We may never fully return to
pre-Covid working models. Some meetings may remain on-line whist others
may be run in a combination of on-line and in person. Social workers have
reported that for many young people meeting online appeals to them.
32.2 The fostering service is responsible for recruiting, training, supervising and
supporting Foster Carers. It is also responsible for undertaking connected
person’s assessments. The service also works closely with commissioning
colleagues and provides a Duty Service every day to identify any urgent and
emergency placements required across Children’s Social Care.
32.3 In addition, the service runs a successful foster carer mentoring scheme and
a monthly support group, currently online, but with a keen intention to return
32.4 During the course of the last year the fostering service has been through a
p.of enhancing the fostering recruitment strategy in order to ensure we are
able to meet the sufficiency requirements going forward. At the 31st March
2021 19 potential mainstream foster families were being assessed. This
would provide a potential of 23 new homes for children.
32.5 The Fostering Service has also worked hard to improve the quality of support
offered to Foster Carers. As part of this the service has worked with foster
carers to establish the Dorset Foster Carers Association. Although the
committee is now established the Association is still in an embryonic stage.
The Service and the Association will work in the coming months to fully
develop communication strategies and partnership working in order to
promote foster care and foster carers in Dorset.

Page 28

33. Developments For 2021/22
33.1 The fostering service has developed an exciting and ambitious action plan
and over the coming year will prioritise work in the following areas:
34. Strengthening Business Intelligence and Performance Monitoring
Arrangements.
34.1 A range of key performance indicators and business information
requirements have been identified in order to more effectively monitor the
fostering service. Currently management information and business tracking
information are held in a combination of excel spreadsheets and on mosaic.
The intention is to hold and report all information through mosaic. This will be
used to produce a dashboard which will be able to provide quality and
practice information at a granular level. A draft dashboard has already been
produced and is being refined.
35. Ensure Fostering Service Has Sufficient Staffing to Meet Current and
Predicted Service Demand (In Line with Planned Service Development)
35.1 To undertake a modeling exercise to understand the staffing needs of the
fostering service based on planned targets and caseloads of 15 households
per fostering social worker and 5 assessments per fostering assessment
worker. This will include posts already identified in the Blueprint for Change
programme but not yet appointed to and the transfer to Dorset Council of 1
post under TUPE arrangement following the end of the WREC contract.
35.2 A first draft paper is currently being produced.
36. Ensure Effective Policies, Procedures and Processes Are in Place and
Align with Statutory and National Minimum Standards and Best
Practice.
36.1 The fostering service will undertake a root and branch review of all fostering
service policies and procedures to ensure they are fit for purpose and Ofsted
ready to support the service and reflect the wider locality children’s services
offer. This will include a full benchmarking exercise against the National
Minimum Standards and the implementation of any subsequent action plan.
It is good practice for fostering agencies to benchmark themselves in this way
at least annually to keep abreast of national and local changes.
36.2 This will also include the revision of key documents required by Ofsted under
the National Minimum Standards in Fostering 2011. These include:


Statement of Purpose

Page 29







Foster Carers Handbook
Children’s Guide
Foster Cares Training Handbook
Foster Carer Financial Allowance Guidance
Foster Carers Register

36.3 The fostering service will also review and revise the training offer made
available to both foster carers and staff to ensure all carers and staff have
the knowledge and skills to meet the needs of the children they care for.
37. Ensure the Quality of Practice in Dorset’s Fostering Service Meet
Fostering Regulations and Standards
37.1 The Fostering Service will develop and implement practice standards for
workers with the service. It will also ensure that regular reflective supervision
is taking place across the service and that this is recorded by managers.
37.2 The fostering service has strengthened their suite of foster carer file audit
proformas which correlate to the Fostering Agency Regulations and link to
Dorset Policies and Procedures. These templates are being used by the
fostering reviewing officers.
38. Strengthen Fostering Duty Service Arrangements
38.1 The fostering service alongside the commissioning team work hard to identify
foster placements for children who need them. The fostering service will
review the process of placement finding and consider transferring the
placement finding functions for inhouse placements to be within the fostering
service. This may increase the identification and use of inhouse foster
placement first and thereby reduce the number of IFA placements.
38.2 The fostering team will also consider setting up an out of hours fostering duty
system to support foster carers and children in need of advice or support
during evenings and weekends. This service is currently provided through
the general Dorset Council out of hours duty service. A dedicated out of hours
duty system would strengthen the support provided to foster carers by having
fostering social workers they are likely to know and who have specialist
fostering knowledge. This could lead to increased placement stability.
39. Strengthen Fostering Panel Arrangements
39.1 The fostering service will continue to work to improve the efficiency and cost
effectiveness of the fostering panel.

Page 30

39.2 New processes have already been put in place to ensure that all
documentation for panel is panel ready. The fostering service will continue to
review these procedures in order to streamline the process and maximise
panel time. For example, it is planned that the process for matching children
to their long-term foster families will no longer be presented to panel. This is
not a statutory requirement and will speed up decision making as the case
does not need to be booked in to panel. This will also free up panel time.
39.3 A benchmarking exercise has also been undertaken regarding the cost of
Dorset’s Fostering Panel. It has revealed higher than average costs and
actions are being taken to reduce these costs.
40. Strengthen Fostering Recruitment
40.1 The Fostering Service is working with Dorset’s Corporate Communications
Service to develop a coherent Fostering Recruitment Strategy designed to
meet the needs of the sufficiency plan. The plan will take in to account
placement demand and demography using the Mosaic demographic analysis
tools. This work is already underway.
40.2 The fostering service is keen to maximise recruitment and retention efforts
and to ensure that Dorset fostering service is the provider of choice for foster
carers. As such the service is keen to explore a range of Dorset Council
fostering friendly initiatives including loans for house extensions, concessions
on Council tax, free parking passes for foster carers etc.
41. Work with Foster Carers to Establish the Dorset Foster Carers
Association
41.1 At a meeting on the 9th March 2021 Dorset Foster Carers appointed a
Chairperson, Vice Chair, Treasurer, and Secretary to for an interim
Committee in order to establish the Dorset Foster Carers Association.
41.2 The idea of the Foster Carers Association is to have an organisation run by
foster carers for foster carers that will work in partnership with the Dorset
Council Fostering Service and other senior managers to improve all aspects
of the fostering service. By working together in this way we can ensure strong
channels of communication, raise issues that affect foster carers, share ideas
to improve the service, promote good practice, improve the outcomes for the
children we care for and organise events for children and young people to
have fun. The Association will be funded by Dorset Council.

Page 31

41.3 The fostering service will continue to work with the committee and other foster
carers to establish the Association. A draft service agreement has already
been produced and will be finalised shortly.
42. Implement the Mockingbird Programme.
42.1 Mockingbird uses an extended family model, in the form of ‘constellations’
which consist of a ‘hub’ home and several ‘satellite’ homes nearby. The
specially recruited and trained hub home carers offer respite care, peer
support, regular joint planning and social activities.
42.2 Because of its structure, Mockingbird helps alleviate the sense of isolation
foster carers can feel and offers immediate practical support - similar to that
a non-fostering family might receive from friends and relatives.
42.3 Dorset Fostering Service intends to set up two Mockingbird fostering
communities in Dorset by September 2021.

Author: John Heron
Fostering Transformation Consultant
April 2021

Please do not delete the footnote.
Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is
included within the report.

Page 32

APPENDIX 1

Date 17th May 2021
Dorset Council Fostering Panel
CONSTITUTION AND TERMS OF REFERENCE
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Dorset Council is a local authority Fostering Service Provider. The Panel considers
mainstream fostering, family and friends, Harbour foster carers, Short Breaks and
specialist foster carers.
1.2 The Panel complies with The Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011, and
the National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services 2011, and with other legislation
and guidance as listed below. Detailed guidance is also available in the 2019 Coram
BAAF publication Effective Fostering Panels.
1.3 The composition of Fostering Panels, terms of reference and functions are set out in
The Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011.
1.4 All Fostering Service Providers are legally required to have a Fostering Panel. The
Regulations ensure that Fostering Panels have an independent role separate from the
Fostering Service Provider
1.5 This constitution and terms of reference will be the framework for the operation of the
Fostering Panel. It will be reviewed annually.
2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES
2.1 The aim of the Dorset Fostering Panel is to ensure the provision of a high-quality
fostering service that safeguards and promotes the welfare of children in care and
looked by after by our foster carers.
2.2 The Fostering Panel will carry out its responsibilities in accordance with –
2.3 The Children Act 1989
2.4 The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000
2.5 The Adoption and Children Act 2002
2.6 The Children Act 2004
2.7 The Children and Young Person’s Act 2008
2.8 The Breaks for Carers of Disabled Children Regulations 2011

Page 33

2.9 The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010
2.10 The Accommodated Children Visiting Arrangements Regulations 2010
2.11 The Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010
2.12 The Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011
2.13 The Arrangements for Placement of Children by Voluntary Organisations and
Others (England) Regulations 2011
2.14 Volume 1 (2008), Volume 2 (2010), Volume 3 (2010), and Volume 4 (2011) of the
Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations.
2.15 The Family and Friends Care: Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities 2011
2.16 The Fostering Services: National Minimum Standards 2011
2.17 The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review and Fostering Services
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013
2.18 The Assessment and Approval of Foster Carers; Amendments to the Children Act
1989 Guidance and Regulations (Volume4; Fostering Services)
2.19 The Care Planning and Fostering (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England)
Regulations 2015
2.20 All other relevant Guidance, and Children and Families policy and procedures.
2.21 The Fostering Panel is committed to practice which promotes inclusion and
diversity, and will carry out its duties in accordance with Dorset Council Celebrating
Diversity policy and will not discriminate on the grounds of gender, race, religion,
sexuality, age or disability or for any other reason.
2.22 In all matters the Fostering Panel will hold the welfare of children to be paramount.
3. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
3.1 The role of the Fostering Panel is to consider the full approval, the re-approval
through annual review, change of approval, and termination of approval of anyone either
seeking to be approved as, or currently approved as, foster carers, who wish to care for
children and young people up to the age of 18 years.
3.2 Approval of carers will include specifying the ages, gender and numbers of children
who will normally be fostered and evaluating their future training needs.
3.3 The Panel will also consider, in the case of connected persons (family and friends),
applicants who have had children placed with them under Regulation 24 of the Care
Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010, all exceptional

Page 34

requests for a Regulation 25, 8-week extension to a Regulation 24 temporary approval
and placement.
3.4 The Panel will also consider and make recommendations on first annual reviews of
all foster carers and every third annual review thereafter and significant changes to a
fostering household. It will consider significant complaints, allegations of abuse or
standards of care investigations. Panel will be notified of all resignations.
3.5 In addition to the above the Fostering Panel may be consulted if appropriate on the
preparation and review of Fostering Service Provider policies and procedures in relation
to any aspect of fostering. The Panel will be rigorous in monitoring quality standards and
will contribute to the development of good practice.
3.6 The Fostering Panel’s role is to provide thorough and critical consideration of all
cases presented to it and to make sound and appropriate recommendations to the
respective Agency Decision Maker. The Panel is not permitted to make any conditional
or ‘in principle’ recommendations, but may defer making a recommendation.
3.7 The Panel will monitor the standards and quality of assessments and reports and
give feedback to the appropriate managers via the Agency Adviser.
3.8 The Panel will be committed to anti-discriminatory practice and to ensuring that the
welfare of the child is paramount.
3.9 The Panel will be transparent in the process of how it arrives at its
recommendations, which will be fully reflected in the official minutes of the Panel, and
Panel will welcome comments and suggestions, which will improve both its practice and
operation. Feedback forms will be sent to all those who have attended Panel to assist in
monitoring user’s views.
3.10 Agreement to vary a foster carer’s terms of approval (ie age range, gender or
number of places) may be made by the Fostering Service Provider’s Agency Decision
Maker, where necessary, in accordance with current Department for Education
guidance. A carer review will be carried out and sent to the Agency Decision Maker, and
carers will be given the option to go to the IRM.
3.11 Exemptions to the usual fostering limit may be agreed by the Agency Decision
Maker.
3.12 Exemptions must be presented to the Fostering Panel as reports if they are to
continue for more than 6 weeks.
4. MEMBERSHIP
4.1 The membership must satisfy The Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011
4.2 Membership of “the central list” for the Joint Fostering Panel is open ended in
number, but there will be a core membership and other members who may be included

Page 35

as and when their expertise is needed. Panel is quorate when 5 members including at
least one social worker is present. The number of members present at a Panel will not
exceed 7 members, and must include:





An Independent Chair or one of the two vice chairs
A Qualified Social Worker (Social Work England registered) with at least 3 years
relevant post-qualifying experience.
An independent person if the vice chair is chairing the meeting and is not an
independent member
At least three other members

Dorset Council will aim to recruit a core membership as follows:








An Independent Chair
Two Vice Chairs (to be nominated from within the membership below, excluding
the elected member)
An elected member of Dorset Council
Two Social Work England (SWE) registered social workers, one with fostering
expertise
At least four independent members including a foster carer from another
Fostering Service Provider and an adult with experience of being in the care
system
A Health representative

An Agency Adviser and a Panel Administrator will also be in attendance
4.3 The Panel will nominate two Vice Chairs from those people listed in 4.2 above who
will chair meetings in the absence of the Chair
4.4 The Panel will aim to have a balance in terms of gender, race, sexuality, culture and
religion and should reflect the diversity of the community it serves.
4.5 The Fostering Panel will not conduct business unless at least five of its members are
present. The following representatives must be present for the Panel to be considered
quorate:
Chair or one of the two Vice Chairs, a SWE registered social worker and 3 other
members.
4.6 Panel members will be recruited by the Agency Adviser and the Panel Chair, (and for
the Independent Chair Person, the Senior Manager of the Fostering Service), via
advertisements either within the agency (for agency nominated representatives) or via
relevant publications (for independent members). Applicants will be required to submit a
completed application form or cv and attend an interview. Verbal and written references
and an enhanced DBS (Disclosure and Barring Service) check will be obtained for each
Panel member prior to being appointed.

Page 36

4.7 All Panel members will be appointed for an open-ended term of office (but will not
exceed 10 years) and will be asked to sign a Panel membership agreement.
4.8 All Panel members will have suitable qualifications and/or experience and are
expected to comply with the Panel protocol. Each Panel member will have an annual
review meeting with the Chair and Agency Adviser. The Chair will be reviewed by the
Agency Adviser and the senior manager of the fostering service.
4.9 Panel members should always declare an interest where they have direct knowledge
of a matter being presented. The Chair will decide whether that interest is such as to
debar the Panel member from discussion or decision making in respect of that item.
4.10 Panel members who do not attend Panel as part of their paid employment will
receive a net fee of £220 per Panel attended irrespective of panel being held virtually or
in person. Travel and parking will also be paid if the panel member attends in person.
Fees and expenses are to be claimed monthly, on receipt of an invoice. This sum covers
most costs associated with Panel attendance.
5. PROTOCOL FOR MEMBERS OF PANEL
5.1 All Panel members are required to sign a Panel Member’s Agreement.
5.2 Core Panel members are expected to attend a minimum of 75% of meetings in a
year and to arrive on time for all Panel meetings. Members unable to attend a Panel
meeting must ensure that apologies are sent in advance to the Agency Adviser. The
Agency Adviser will have discussions privately with any Core Panel member where
attendance is proving to be a problem.
5.3 Panel members will be committed to anti-discriminatory practice and will consider
each case on its own merits.
5.4 Each Panel member has a duty to maintain the confidentiality of the information to
which they have access. The agreement that Panel members sign includes a section on
confidentiality.
5.5 Panel members should have read all Panel papers carefully before Panel and should
come prepared to contribute to Panel discussions.
5.6 Panel members are expected to keep up to date with developments in fostering and
to avail themselves of training opportunities. The Agency Adviser will offer advice and
support on this.
5.7 Panel members will be kept informed about current practice, issues and legislation in
relation to fostering by means of updates from the Agency Adviser, consultations etc.
5.8 A minimum of 1 annual training events are offered. There is an expectation that
Panel members will attend the training events. Panel members will be consulted on the
content and format of the training. There is an expectation that all members of the

Page 37

central list will attend the joint training run with members of the fostering social work staff
group.
5.9 All Panel members will have a current enhanced disclosure from the Disclosure and
Barring Service (DBS), which will be updated every three years. Panel members must
inform Dorset Council at once if they are convicted or cautioned for any criminal offence.
5.10 Two written references (confirmed by verbal references) will be required for all
Panel members.
5.11 Each Panel member will have an electronic file held by Dorset Council with details
of recruitment, references, full name, date of birth, home address, photograph, proof of
identity, and where relevant, qualifications and experience. Any complaints and
allegations made against the Panel member including details of any investigation and its
outcome will be recorded.
5.12 All new Panel members will be expected to observe one Panel prior to full
membership.
5.13 All new Panel members will receive an induction pack and will have an induction
programme. The Agency Adviser will offer support regularly, particularly to independent
members.
5.14 A Panel member may resign at any time by giving one calendar months’ notice in
writing to the Panel Chair or Agency Adviser. If Dorset Council is of the opinion that a
member is unfit or unable to hold office, the agency may terminate his or her office by
giving him or her one calendar months’ notice in writing.
5.15 The Agency Adviser, in consultation with the Panel Chair, will informally approach
any Panel member whose behaviour is considered inappropriate or ineffective. If the
matter cannot be resolved at the informal stage by further individual training and/or
advice and guidance, a letter addressing the issue will be sent to the Panel member with
a copy to the Agency Decision Maker and Panel Chair. If there are no substantive
changes and difficulties persist then consideration will be given to terminating their
membership.
6. PANEL CHAIRPERSON
6.1 The Chair of the Panel will be an independent person with significant experience of
social work and fostering work, including at a senior management level, and the
necessary skills to ensure that the Panel's work is carried out efficiently and sensitively.
The Fostering Service Manager will be responsible for the recruitment of the Panel Chair
in liaison with the Agency Advisor. When a vacancy arises for a Panel Chair,
advertisements will be placed in relevant publications. The two vice-chairs will be drawn
from the central list.

Page 38

6.2 The Chair will ensure that Panel meetings are conducted in a professional and
proper manner and that all items of business are covered. The Chair will assume
responsibility for co-ordination of discussion and time keeping. The Chair will ensure that
all applicants, social workers and managers attending Panel will be treated with respect
and courtesy.
6.3 The responsibilities of the Chairperson include:









Agreeing who will attend Panel in addition to Panel members
Ensuring that all Panel members contribute fully to the Panel’s recommendation
and to ensure that where Panel members have serious or dissenting reservations
these are recorded in the minutes of the Panel’s meetings.
Ensuring that all verbal contributions and all documents presented to Panel are
given due consideration, and that Panel records are accurate
Involvement when a Panel member appears unfit, unwilling, or unable to
continue
Involvement in deciding when a matter is urgent and when an additional Panel
meeting may need to be convened.
That there is clarity concerning the reasons for Panel's recommendation and
accurate recording of such.
The promotion of good practice and consistency of approach and fairness by
Panel members in assessing carers.

6.4 The Chair of the Panel will be responsible for producing an annual report of the
Panel's work for Dorset Children and Families.
6.5 The Agency Decision Maker undertakes an annual performance review of the Chair.
The views of Panel members and those attending Panel will be sought and taken into
account as part of this process.
7. INDEPENDENT MEMBERS
7.1 There is no limit in law to the number of independent Panel members, however
practicality dictates that numbers should be restricted. We will aim to have a central list
for the Fostering Panel of no more than fifteen members. These members should have
personal or professional knowledge and experience of fostering.
8. MEDICAL ADVICE
8.1 Medical advice is available to the Panel from the Agency Medical Adviser, who is a
Community Paediatrician and Designated Doctor Looked After Children at Dorset CCG,
and who is not a Panel member, and does not attend Panel.
8.2 The Agency Medical Adviser is a senior member of the community child health
service and will have an in-depth knowledge of child health and development and the
consequences of abuse and neglect.

Page 39

8.3 The Agency Medical Adviser will provide a written report to the Panel on foster
carers presented and will be available to discuss resulting issues.
9. LEGAL ADVICE
9.1 Legal advice is available from a senior lawyer employed by Dorset Council, who is
experienced in family and childcare law. They are not a Panel member and does not
attend Panel but will give specific legal advice to Panel members on individual cases
presented to the Panel when necessary.
9.2 The Legal Adviser can if needed provide general advice to Panel members on the
legal functions and duties of the Panel.
9.3 The Legal Adviser can be contacted by social workers for advice.
10. AGENCY ADVISER
10.1 The Agency Adviser to Panel must be a senior member of staff with at least five
years post qualifying experience and relevant management experience. The Agency
Adviser plays a key quality assurance and advisory role in respect of cases coming to
Panel.
10.2 The Agency Adviser will advise the Chair and Panel as required on matters relating
to Dorset Children and Families practice, policy and procedure.
10.3 The Agency Adviser is responsible for ensuring comprehensive and appropriate
papers are sent to Panel members at least five working days before the Panel meeting,
and for reporting back to the agency any concerns or issues raised by Panel members.
10.4 The Agency Adviser is responsible for ensuring that accurate and timely minutes of
Panel are produced and forwarded to the Chair for checking and agreeing, and that
verbal and written notifications of the agency decision are forwarded within statutory
timescales, ie within two and five working days respectively.
10.5 The Agency Adviser will assist the Panel Chair in the appointment, termination and
review of Panel members. The Agency Adviser is responsible for the induction and
training of Panel members and for monitoring the performance of Panel members and
Panel administration.
10.6 The Agency Adviser is available for consultation and advice to the Agency Decision
Maker on matters relating to the Panel and will attend a briefing meeting with the Agency
Decision Maker if required. If the Agency Adviser is unavailable, alternative
arrangements will be made to ensure that Panel has agency advice.
10.7 The Agency Adviser will provide Panel members with specialist advice and access
to appropriate training materials as necessary.

Page 40

11 OTHER ADVISERS
11.1 If other specialist advice is required for any other reason the Agency Adviser to
Panel will source this appropriately. Advisers are not voting members of the Panel, are
therefore not involved in decision making at Panel, and they can therefore assist the
Agency Decision Maker in his deliberations.
12 CONFIDENTIALITY
12.1 All information presented to the Fostering Panel is confidential and Panel members
must respect this.
12.2 All Panel members (and any observers) will be required to sign a confidentiality
agreement. For Panel members this is included in the Panel member’s agreement.
12.3 All Panel members must be able to indicate what arrangements they have for
ensuring that confidential information is kept securely and is password protected.
12.4 Any breach of confidentiality by a Panel member will be considered as serious and
will be taken up by the Agency Adviser.
13. CONFLICT OF INTEREST
13.1 It is possible for a Panel member to have some knowledge, either in a professional
or personal capacity, of a case under consideration.
13.2 If a Panel member believes they may have personal knowledge they should not
read the papers before seeking advice from the Agency Adviser or Panel Chair.
13.3 Professional knowledge should be declared at the Panel meeting.
13.4 The Chair will decide whether a declared interest in a case is such as to debar the
Panel member from the discussion relating to that case and/or participation in the Panel
recommendation.
13.5 Declaration of an interest, personal or professional, may not of itself preclude a
Panel member from being involved in considering the item. Any declaration of interest
will be recorded in the Panel minutes.
14. ADMINSTRATION OF THE PANEL
14.1 An experienced administrator will support the work of the Panel.
14.2 Cases will only be placed on a Panel agenda once the Panel Administrator/Agency
Adviser has received all the relevant paperwork.
14.3 The Fostering Panel Administrator will minute Panel meetings. The minutes will
record:

Page 41















Date of Panel
Attendance at Panel
Apologies for absence from Panel
Name of applicants/foster carers/child
Purpose of presentation to Panel
Issues raised by Panel members
Areas discussed with social workers and applicants/foster carers/children
The positive factors and potential difficulties/risk factors
Recommendation reached together with the reasons for the recommendation
including detailing the reports read by Panel
Any advice to the agency from the Panel
Whether the recommendation was unanimous and if not the reasons and
reservations of those not able to support the recommendation
Any request from Panel for further information, amendments to reports or
reporting back to Panel
Any business for discussion

14.4 The Panel Chair and Panel members must agree the accuracy and content of the
minutes before they are sent to the Agency Decision Maker.
14.5 The Chair will sign all Panel minutes to confirm their accuracy.
14.6 The Panel minutes and recommendations relating to the approval or review of
approval of foster carers will be placed on the foster carer's file. Foster carers do not
have the right to see Panel minutes, however they will receive the list of the positive
factors and risk factors identified by Panel with their letter informing them of the Agency
Decision.
14.7 A central record of all minutes of the Fostering Panel must be kept securely.
14.8 The tabling of reports and agenda items is co-ordinated by the Panel Administrator
in consultation with the Agency Adviser. Panel members will receive copies of the
agenda and all reports/papers at least five working days in advance of the meeting. An
agenda is sent to all Panel attendees.
14.9 The Panel Administrator will be responsible for scheduling each case in a Teams
Meeting if the panel is held virtually or for the booking of rooms for Panel meetings held
in person.
15. PANEL MEETINGS
15.1 The Panel meets twice a fortnight on consecutive days (Tuesdays and
Wednesdays) usually from 09.15am – 5.00pm
15.2 The Panel will consider cases with the following approximate timings:



Approval of prospective foster carers: 60 minutes
Review/re-approval of foster carers: 45 minutes

Page 42





Complaints and Standards of Care reviews 60 minutes
Termination of approval: 90 minutes
Regulation 25 extension of Reg 24 temporary approval 30 minutes

15.3 Panel members are expected to read the Panel papers in advance of the Panel
meeting and come prepared to contribute to the discussion. All Panel members have an
equal role in reaching a recommendation.
15.4 Panel members will discuss the issues they wish to explore with the social workers
and applicants before inviting them in. The Chair will co-ordinate the discussion and
ensure that all areas are covered and that the social workers and applicants have the
opportunity to present any other relevant information.
15.5 Panel members will endeavour to reach a consensus and the Chair will ensure that
all members can express their views. Every Panel member must express a view about
whether or not they support the recommendation.
15.6 If a consensus cannot be reached then a majority view will prevail with the
dissenting members’ views being noted in the minutes. The views of those not able to
support the recommendation will be communicated to the Agency Decision Maker. The
Chair does not have a casting vote but will summarise the voting for the Agency
Decision Maker.
15.7 If there is insufficient information available for Panel to reach a recommendation,
they will defer the case (see section 16) until the additional information is provided by the
relevant social worker.
15.8 At the end of each case the Chair will summarise the recommendation made and
the reasons for it. The Chair will also advise all attendees of the recommendation and
decision-making process and when the agency's decision will be made.
15.9 The appropriate social workers will convey the Panel recommendation orally to all
those involved i.e. children, applicants, and foster carers within 48 hours of receiving the
details from the Agency Adviser, who will send the decisions by e-mail on the day of the
Agency Decision Maker meeting.
16. PROCEDURES FOR DEFERMENT OF CASES
16.1 Guiding principles
16.1.1 The relevant social work team managers and team managers from the Fostering
team, in liaison with the Agency Adviser, should try to prevent cases booked for the
Fostering Panel being deferred, by carefully quality assuring and scrutinising all reports
prior to submission. On occasions the Agency Adviser may have to defer a case being
placed on sharefile for Panel members if insufficient information, evidence or analysis
has been provided. This decision will be made in consultation with the relevant social
worker and their manager.

Page 43

16.1.2 Once Panel papers are placed on sharefile a decision to defer a case before the
meeting should be made as early as possible by the Chair, Agency Adviser and fostering
Team Manager. Deferring a case at a Panel meeting causes much distress to
applicants/carers and prevents time being available for other cases. This should be
avoided if possible.
16.1.3 The Fostering Team Managers, the Agency Adviser and the Chair have the
power to defer a case before Panel. However, consideration at a Panel meeting may
reveal a significant gap in information, evidence or analysis that was not clear before an
individual contribution is made or a pattern or theme emerges from collective discussion.
This could lead to a case being deferred at a Panel meeting. This underlines the value
and purpose of the Fostering Panel with its different professional and lay perspectives
carrying out a quality assurance role.
16.1.4 Nevertheless it is hoped that deferment will normally be a rare occurrence.
16.2 Deferment before a Panel meeting
16.2.1 Once papers have been circulated to Panel members, if the Chair considers a
report has significant gaps in information, evidence or analysis or is of a poor quality
they will contact the Agency Adviser (or relevant Team Manager in the Agency Advisers
absence) to discuss the concerns. The Chair should either ask for the case to be
deferred or, if there is sufficient time available, ask the Agency Adviser to ask the
supervising social worker or assessing social worker, in consultation with their manager,
to re-write the report, or write a supplementary report for tabling at the Panel meeting. It
is understood that this will not normally be a feasible option because of time constraints.
16.2.2 Normally the decision to defer a case before a Panel meeting will be made by the
Chair in consultation with the Agency Adviser and Team Manager, or the Agency
Adviser in consultation with the Chair and relevant manager. If a Panel member has
concerns about the adequacy of a report prior to a Panel meeting and considers the item
should be deferred they should contact the Agency Adviser to discuss their concerns. If,
after discussion, serious concerns are maintained the Agency Adviser should contact the
Chair to discuss whether the case is deferred prior to the Panel meeting. It is understood
that because of members’ time constraints this option would be rarely used.
16.2.3 Once the Chair or Agency Adviser has agreed with the relevant team manager to
defer a case prior to a Panel meeting the Agency Adviser should contact the supervising
social worker immediately so that the carer’s attendance at Panel can be postponed and
explanations and future plans discussed with them.
16.2.4 At the Panel meeting, after minutes and matters arising, the Chair will inform
members that the case has been deferred and give the reasons for the deferment. The
Chair will clarify any questions or queries members may have and in consultation with
the Agency Adviser inform Panel, if known, when the deferred item will be presented to
Panel.

Page 44

16.2.5 After the Panel meeting the Agency Decision Maker should be informed of the
deferment by the Agency Adviser.
16.3 Deferment at a Panel meeting
16.3.1 If during the Panel’s initial consideration of a case, serious concerns arise about
the adequacy of a report in terms of insufficient information, evidence or analysis, the
Chair, in consultation with the Agency Adviser, should either:




clarify through questions and discussion with members whether they wish to
continue to hear the case with additional verbal input from the carers and social
workers, or,
based on the concerns expressed, decide to defer consideration of the case and
give the reasons for the decision.

16.3.2. Once the Panel has made a decision to defer considering the case and has
clarified their reasons for doing so, the Chair and Agency Adviser will leave the meeting
and explain briefly to the applicants/carers and supervising social worker and manager
(if present) that the item has been deferred for further information to be obtained, and
clarify what further information the Panel will require. It will also be clarified with the
supervising social worker and their manager which future Panel the item has been
deferred to.
16.3.3. There may be some occasions when, prior to the Panel deciding to defer an
item, members may wish to try to clarify certain queries or issues with the supervising
social worker and their manager within the Panel meeting. Panel may consider that
further clarification could confirm that the case should be deferred or that queries can be
answered sufficiently and clarify that the assessment work was carried out satisfactorily
but not fully recorded in the report. On such rare occasions, prior to this discussion, the
Chair or Agency Adviser will leave the meeting and ask the supervising social worker
and manager to join the meeting and ask the applicants/carers to wait explaining to them
that a number of points in reports need to be clarified before the Panel decides to invite
them in. If the verbal responses the supervising social worker and manager give to the
Panel’s queries are sufficient to fully answer the concerns raised the Panel will ask for
the assessment report to be amended and the application can be considered fully and
not deferred. If the responses clarify that there is still significant assessment work to be
carried out, the Panel will confirm the item is deferred until the outstanding work is
completed. The Chair and Agency Adviser will leave the meeting and with the
supervising social worker and their manager explain to the applicants/carers that the
item has been deferred for further information to be obtained.
16.3.4 After the Panel meeting the Agency Decision Maker should be informed.

Page 45

17. PROCEDURE FOR TERMINATIONS OF APPROVAL
17.1 Terminations of approval will only be dealt with when an annual review, scheduled
or otherwise, has been completed, and the carer has been involved in discussions
leading to the recommendation.
17.2 Voluntary resignations will not need to be presented to Panel.
17.3 Where a termination of approval, against the wishes of the carers is being
presented to the Panel, the supervising social worker must supply to Panel full annual
review documentation, PLUS a full report including details of complaints, allegations of
harm, standards of care and all other investigations and all concerns; a clear account of
the process of investigation; an explanation of any mitigating factors; and setting out
recommendations as to termination of approval, with clear and complete evidence as to
the reasons. The foster carer must be given the opportunity to respond in writing to the
report and for their response to be considered by Panel at the same time as the
supervising social worker’s report.
17.4 Normal Panel process will then be followed for dealing with the reports, as this
offers the option of transparency, openness and honesty. However, if the relationship
between the carers and the social work staff has become very acrimonious, or it is felt
that either party may become so upset as to make it difficult for the Panel to function, the
Chair may decide to see them separately in Panel.
17.5 If the concerns have been serious, the Fostering Service will need to consider
whether to report the carers to the Disclosure and Barring Service, or to Ofsted.
18. REPORTS FOR PANEL
18.1 The Panel will require the following reports:








For approval of prospective foster carers - foster carers’ Assessment Report and
supporting documentation.
For approval as foster carers regarding the placement of a child with connected
persons – family and friends foster carer’s Assessment Report, and all relevant
supporting information.
Review of foster carer approval - annual foster carers review reports and minutes
of previous Panel
Review of foster carers with recommendation for termination of approval – see
guidance in CoramBAAF’s “Effective Panels”, and guidance above – full review
documentation, previous minutes and detailed report and analysis of reasons for
recommendation.
Any other matters – following advice from the Agency Adviser

18.2 The Agency Adviser to the Panel will be available to offer advice to social workers
on the completion of reports and the standards required by Panel.

Page 46

18.3 Reports to the Fostering Panel in relation to fostering matters upon which the Panel
are asked to make recommendations must be prepared by sufficiently experienced and
qualified staff (Fostering Services NMS Standard 19) and who have the, skills and
experience necessary for the work they are to perform (The Fostering Services
(England) Regs 2011, regulation 20). This should include direct experience of fostering
work. Where the author of the report does not have the requisite qualifications and
experience, he or she should be supervised by a suitably qualified and experienced
colleague or manager.
18.4 Where those preparing reports are not employed by the Fostering Service Provider,
they should always be suitably qualified and experienced and supervised by a member
of staff with the suitable qualifications and experience.
19. ATTENDANCE BY SOCIAL WORK STAFF
19.1. All social workers must attend and present their cases to Panel as follows, this
expectation also applies to social workers attending from other fostering agencies or
Fostering Service Providers:




Approval of prospective foster carers: Assessing social worker.
Placement of a child with foster carers: Child’s social worker and the prospective
foster carers supervising social worker
Foster carer review of approval: Supervising social worker and Fostering
Reviewing Officer were required

19.2 The Agency Adviser must be notified as soon as possible regarding any problems
with staff attending Panel.
19.3 Staff attending Panel will be asked to complete a feedback form regarding their
experience of the Panel process.
20. ATTENDANCE OF CHILDREN, APPLICANTS, AND FOSTER CARERS AND
OBSERVERS
20.1 Dorset is committed to user involvement and transparent decision-making.
Prospective and existing foster carers are always invited and strongly encouraged to
attend Panel when their full assessment or review is being considered. However, there is
no obligation for the foster carer to meet with the Panel; if they decline to do so, this in
itself will not be considered as a reason for recommending that they are not suitable.
20.2 Attendees will be given a Panel leaflet explaining the Panel process and what to
expect when they attend. Attendees will also be sent a feedback form so that their views
on their experience at Panel can be gained and fed back on a regular basis to Panel
members.
20.3 All applicants will be given sufficient notice to enable them to attend. The
responsibility for this lies with the supervising social worker.

Page 47

20.4 An invitation will be sent to applicants by the Panel Administrator confirming the
date and time of the Panel meeting at least one week beforehand.
20.5 When applicants attend, they will be invited into the Panel meeting with the social
work staff after the Panel has decided upon the areas on which it needs further
discussion or clarification. The applicants will be introduced to the Panel, and will also
have the opportunity to ask any questions they may have of Panel, give any further
information they may want Panel to be aware of, or make a statement to Panel.
20.6 The applicants may remain in the Panel meeting with the social work staff whilst the
Panel asks its questions. They will then be asked to leave the meeting whilst Panel
reaches its recommendation.
20.7 Once the Chair has summarised the recommendation of the panel the Agency
Adviser will inform the Social Worker of the recommendation and the reasons for it. The
Social Worker will then inform the applicants of the recommendation. They will also be
advised when the decision will be made by the Agency Decision Maker. Applicants will
be informed of the strengths in their application and any areas of potential difficulty/risks.
In the event of a split decision or rejection, Agency Adviser and social worker will share
the recommendation with the applicants. In the event of a contested or conflictual matter,
the Panel may wish to hear the carer’s contribution on their own, and then hear the
social workers on their own. This procedure will be tailored to the specific details of each
case.
20.8 Approved foster carers will be encouraged to attend the Panel meeting when their
first annual foster care review, subsequent review or any other relevant information
regarding the care they provide is being considered. Carers are welcome to bring a
representative or friend with them if they so wish.
20.9 Birth parents are encouraged to make written or recorded representation to Panel
and in any event should be shown and be fully aware of the information about them
which is presented to Panel.
20.10 Children should be supported and encouraged to write or record their views for
Panel or, when appropriate to attend in person. Arrangements for a child to attend Panel
should always be discussed in advance with the Agency Adviser.
20.11 Usually no more than two people at a time will be allowed to observe at Panel.
Panel attendees will be informed that observers are often at Panel; if they have any
objection to this, they must notify the Agency Adviser in advance of the Panel meeting.
Observers are required to sign an undertaking regarding confidentiality.
21. DECISION MAKING PROCESS AND NOTIFICATIONS
21.1 The Chair or Agency Adviser will provide immediate feedback to all attendees of
the Panel's recommendation. Panel minutes will be shared in draft form with the Chair of
the Panel, and with any Panel member who has made a dissenting recommendation

Page 48

prior to them being sent in a finalised, agreed version by the Chair to the Agency
Decision Maker (ADM). Panel members will have seen the minutes and commented on
them prior to the Chair agreeing them.
21.2 The social worker will verbally convey the Panel recommendations to applicants
within two working days. However, applicants must be clear that whilst Panel makes a
recommendation the final decision is made by the Agency Decision Maker.
21.3 The Service Manager for Placements and Resources has delegated responsibility
for making the decision on behalf of Dorset Children’s Services and is the designated
Agency Decision Maker. In the event of their absence the other nominated Agency
Decision Maker is Corporate Director, Care and Protection.
21.4 The Agency Decision Maker must consider the Panel recommendation when
making the decision. The decision process cannot be delegated to the fostering Panel
and no Panel member can take part in any decision made.
21.5 The Agency Decision Maker will be sent a copy of all the papers presented to
Panel. They will be notified of all recommendations made by the Fostering Panel
finalised Panel minutes and a verbal briefing session, where required, with the Agency
Adviser.
21.6 Where the Agency Decision Maker is minded to disagree with a Panel
recommendation, before making a final decision he may consult with a senior colleague
with the relevant social work qualification and experience, and record the discussion and
outcome; a copy of the record must be passed to the Agency Adviser for placing on the
foster carer’s record. If the result is a recommendation with which the applicants or
carers disagree and contest, then the Independent Review Mechanism process may be
invoked on the carers’ application to the IRM.
21.7 The Agency Adviser will notify the social workers of the agency decision within one
working day. Social workers will orally inform foster carers of the agency decision within
two working days of the decision being made. The Agency Decision Maker will write to
the carers confirming his decision within 5 working days. The Agency Decision Maker
will include the reasons for the decision and, where the agency decision is different from
the recommendation of the Panel, information about his and the Panel’s
recommendations.
22. PROTOCOLS FOR ADDITIONAL MEETINGS
22.1 Additional meetings may be required when there is sufficient pressure of business,
and the organisation of any additional meetings will be undertaken after consultation with
Panel members.
22.2 The normal Panel procedures will apply to additional Panels. Panel members will
receive the papers at least 5 working days in advance of the Panel meeting. Panel

Page 49

members will be contacted by telephone or email to ascertain their availability and the
Agency Adviser will liaise with the chair to arrange the meeting.
23 MONITORING ROLE/FEEDBACK TO AGENCY
23.1 The Agency Adviser will take responsibility for reporting back to the Fostering
Service and Dorset Council any concerns or issues raised by Panel. Examples of good
practice will similarly be fed back. Fostering managers will take forward practice issues
as necessary within the agency and ensure that any actions taken by them are fed back
to the Panel and the Agency.
23.2 An annual report on the work of the Fostering Service Provider will be published
each year and presented to the Corporate Parenting Board. This report will include the
annual Panel report prepared by the Chair for endorsement by elected members. The
Agency Decision Makers and senior managers from the fostering service will be invited
to Panel for an agenda item on an annual basis. This will enable a dialogue to take place
between Panel members, senior managers and the Agency Decision Makers on general
practice and quality assurance issues. The Agency Decision Makers will also be invited
to take part in the annual Panel training day.
23.3 The Panel will be consulted on any proposed changes to fostering policy and
practice guidance, to enable them to contribute
24 COMPLAINTS AND REPRESENTATIONS
24.1 Any complaint specifically about the Fostering Panel should be directed to the
Agency Adviser or Chair to assist resolution.
24.2 Where a carer is not in agreement with the decision made regarding their suitability
as a foster carer, and/or the Fostering Panel’s recommendation, and does not accept the
recommendation, the following representation procedure will be followed.
24.3 The prospective or existing foster carers may choose to either make a written
representation directly to Dorset Council or a written application to the Independent
Review Mechanism (IRM) – they cannot do both. If a representation is made directly to
Dorset Council, the prospective or existing foster carers must write directly to the Agency
Decision Maker (ADM) within 28 working days from the date of the ADM letter. The
Agency Decision Maker may at his discretion meet with them to discuss their concerns
and must then refer the matter back to the Fostering Panel. The Panel will consider the
matter taking into account the prospective or existing carer’s comments and concerns
and will make a new recommendation. This recommendation will be communicated to
the Agency Decision Maker who will make the final decision. If the applicant decides
instead to make a representation to the IRM, they should directly notify the IRM of their
wish to do so within 28 working days from the date of the qualifying determination (the
Agency Decision Maker’s letter to them). Dorset Council fostering service will forward all
relevant information to the IRM within 10 working days of being informed by the IRM of
the need to do so. The IRM will review the matter and notify the Dorset Council Agency

Page 50

Decision Maker of its recommendation and the reasons for it. The Dorset Agency
Decision Maker will make the final decision.
24.4 Where a practitioner is not in agreement with a recommendation made by the
Fostering Panel and wishes to pursue the matter, they should do so directly through their
line manager and the Agency Adviser (who will inform the Chair of the Panel).
24.5 A prospective foster carer cannot make use of the IRM unless a full assessment
has been completed and presented to the Fostering Panel.
25 ANNUAL REPORT
25.1 The Panel Chair will produce an annual report on the work of the Fostering Panel
following the end of the financial year.
25.2 The report should include:







number of foster carers approved, ethnicity, family structure, geographical
location
work of the Panel and the service
strengths and weaknesses of current provision including sufficiency
quality of work presented to Panel
specific issues arising for Panel over the past year
recommendations regarding the operation of Panel and the provision of fostering
services in Dorset.

25.3 The annual report will be presented to Panel.
25.4 The annual report will be presented to the Corporate Parenting Board as part of the
Annual Fostering Service Provider Report.
26 REVIEW
26.1 The function, role, policy, procedure and operation of the Fostering Panel will be
formally reviewed annually.
26.2 After each Panel a feedback forms will be sent to all attendees (applicants, social
workers, foster carers and children) seeking their views and feedback. The outcome of
this feedback will be incorporated into the annual report.

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

People and Health Scrutiny Committee
8th June 2021
Aspire Adoption Annul Report
For Review and Consultation
Portfolio Holder:

Cllr A Parry, Children, Education, Skills and Early Help

Local Councillor(s):
Executive Director:

T Leavy, Executive Director of People - Children

Report Author: Jenny Warr
Title: Adoption Annual Report
Tel: 0300 123 9868
Email: Jennifer.warr@aspireadoption.co.uk
Report Status: Public
Recommendation:
The People and Health Scrutiny Committee consider the progress and
performance of Aspire and identify any areas to be focused upon in managing
the Council’s relationship with Aspire.
Reason for Recommendation:
To ensure that support from People and Health Scrutiny Committee is
maintained.

Page 53

1.

Executive Summary

Dorset Council has a duty under the Adoption and Children Act 2002 to establish and
maintain an adoption service for its area and along with BCP Council discharges this
duty through a delegation of functions to Aspire Adoption, a Regional Adoption Agency.
Dorset retains overall responsibility for its adoption and special guardianship services,
continuing to have parental responsibility for its own Children in Care but most adoption
and some special guardianship functions are delegated to Aspire Adoption.
The appended report is the fourth annual adoption report presented by Aspire Adoption,
summarising the work of the agency in the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021. It
has been written to ensure and provides the Council with an opportunity to satisfy itself
that the requirements of the Statutory Adoption Guidance 2013 and the Adoption
Minimum Standards 2014 are met.

This report provides a summary of the comprehensive self-evaluation of Aspire
Regional Adoption Agency and provides an overview of the areas of strength and
areas for development focusing on:


Local authority statutory responsibilities in respect of adoption



Division of roles and responsibilities between Aspire and the local authorities



Headline activity data 01/04/20 to 31/03/21



Finance



Commissioning

2.

Financial Implications

Section 5 of the Annual Report identifies cost pressures and a likely overspend for
2020/21 of £167,000. That section of the report comments upon staffing and caseload
implications. A new service manager was appointed on the 6th of April 2021 with a remit
to work with Dorset and BCP to stabilise the future financial position whilst retaining the
quality of services. An extraordinary board is set for the 17th of May to review the
financial arrangements.

3.

Well-being and Health Implications

N/A
4.

Climate implications

N/A

Page 54

5.

Other Implications

N/A
6.

Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has
been identified as:
Current Risk: Low
Residual Risk: Low
7.
N/A

Equalities Impact Assessment

8.
Appendices
Aspire Adoption Annual Report for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March
2021
9.

Background Papers

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is
included within the report.

Page 55

Aspire Adoption Annual Report
for the period from 1st April 2020 to 31st March
2021

Contents

Introduction
1. Local authority statutory responsibilities in respect of adoption
2. Division of roles and responsibilities between Aspire and the local
authorities
3. Headline activity data 01/04/20 to 31/03/21
4. Finance
5. Commissioning
6. Appendix 1- Aspire Organisational Structure and Staffing
7. Appendix 2- Governance of Aspire Adoption
8. Appendix 3 -Registered Manager/Responsible Officer and Agency
Decision Maker (ADM) Role
9. Appendix 4 -Aspire Adoption Panel
10. Appendix 5 -Panel chair’s report April 2021

Page 56

Introduction
This is the fourth annual adoption report for Aspire Adoption, summarising the
work of the agency in the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021. It has been
written to ensure that the requirements of the Statutory Adoption Guidance 2013
and the Adoption Minimum Standards 2014 are met.
The 2014 Adoption Minimum Standards can be accessed at
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_dat
a/file/336069/Adoption_NMS_July_2014_for_publication.pdf

The 2013 Statutory Adoption Guidance can be accessed at
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_dat
a/file/270100/adoption_statutory_guidance_2013.pdf

1.

Local authority statutory responsibilities in respect of adoption

1.1 In accordance with the provisions of the Adoption and Children Act 2002, all
local authorities have a duty to establish and maintain an adoption service
in their area, to meet the needs in relation to adoption, of children who have
or may be adopted, of adults who have been adopted, parents and
guardians of such children and persons who have or may adopt a child.
1.2 Since 1st July 2017, Bournemouth Borough Council, the Borough of Poole,
and Dorset County Council have delegated most of those functions, along
with some statutory responsibilities in relation to special guardianship, to
Aspire Adoption, a Regional Adoption Agency. It was one of the first
Regional Adoption Agencies (RAAs) to be set up nationally.
1.3 As a result of local government reorganisation in April 2019, Aspire is now
funded by two councils, namely Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole Council
and Dorset Council. On 1st April 2020, staff in Aspire were TUPE
transferred to Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole Council, which now hosts
the RAA. The Inter Authority Agreement was revised to reflect the change in
council boundaries.
1.4 Each local authority retains overall responsibility for their adoption and
special guardianship services, continuing to have parental responsibility for
their own Children in Care, but delegating most adoption and some special

Page 57

guardianship functions to Aspire Adoption. Regional Adoption Agencies are
expected to work closely with colleagues in the voluntary adoption sector.
Aspire Adoption works in partnership with Families for Children, a Voluntary
Adoption Agency based in Devon.
1.5 The name “Aspire Adoption” reflects the aspiration to learn, to build on
existing good practice and achieve practice improvements in the delivery of
services for children, adopters and others who benefit from or are in need of
adoption and special guardianship services in the area covered by the
Regional Adoption Agency.
2.

Division of roles and responsibilities between Aspire and the local
authorities

2.1 Aspire has been delegated all of the local authority statutory responsibilities
for adoption, other than the court work leading to Care and Placement
Orders.
2.2 Aspire has responsibility for recruiting, assessing and supporting
prospective adopters, for non-agency adoption work including partner
adoptions and intercountry adoptions.
2.3 The local authorities retain overall responsibility for their Children in Care
but have delegated case responsibility for the majority of children with
adoption plans to Aspire following the granting of a Placement Order.
2.4 Aspire is responsible for family finding for all children with adoption plans.
The RAA is also responsible for preparing children for a move to adoption,
for preparing moving calendars or diaries, undertaking life story work and
creating life story books.
2.5 Aspire undertakes special guardianship assessments for court on behalf of
the local authority as part of care proceedings, or in private law applications.
2.6 Aspire provides support to all parties affected by adoption, including
adopters, adoptive families, adopted adults and birth relatives, and also to
special guardians, families created through special guardianship, and to the
birth families whose children are subject to SGOs.
2.7 The table on the following page sums up the division of responsibilities
between Aspire and the local authorities.
Function

Regional Adoption
Agency

Page 58

Local Authority

RECRUITMENT AND ASSESSMENT
Marketing and Recruitment Strategy
Adopter Recruitment and Enquiries
Assessment of Prospective Adopters – all Stage One and Stage Two functions
Completion of Prospective Adopter Report
Agency Decision Maker for approval of adopters
Post approval training
Matching
Post Placement training for Prospective Adopters
PERMANANCE PLANNING
Early identification of a child possibly requiring adoption
Tracking and monitoring the child possibly requiring adoption
Support and advice to childcare social worker on the adoption process
Sibling or other specialist assessments if commissioned by LA
Direct work to prepare child prior to placement
Preparation of the Child Permanence Report
Agency Decision Maker for “Should be placed for Adoption” decisions
Case management prior to the point agreed by the LA ADM
Case management from point agreed by the LA ADM
MATCHING AND PLACEMENT




















Family finding
Looked After Child reviews
Shortlist and visit potential families
Organising child appreciation day
Ongoing direct work to prepare child prior to placement
Adoption Panel administration and management
Agency adviser role
Agency Decision Maker for Matching prospective adopters and child
Placement Planning meeting administration and management of
introductions
Support to family post placement and planning and delivery of adoption
support
Ongoing life story work and preparation of Life story book
Independent Review Officer monitoring of quality of child’s care and care plan
Support prospective adopters in preparation and submission of application for
Adoption Order – including attending at court
Preparation of later life letter
ADOPTION AND SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP SUPPORT










Assessment for adoption or special guardianship support
Developing and delivering adoption and special guardianship support plans
Agree and administer financial support to adoptive families pre and post
Adoption Order
Adoption and special guardianship support delivery including:

Support groups

Social events

Post adoption/special guardianship training

Independent Birth Relative services

Support with ongoing birth relative contact

Specialist Life Story practitioners

Adoption counselling and training




Page 59


















Financial support to adopters and special guardians including adoption and
special guardianship allowances
SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP ORDERS
Receipt of application or court request for special guardianship
Assessment of applicants for Special Guardianship
NON-AGENCY ADOPTIONS
Step parent/partner adoption assessments
Intercountry adoption assessments and post approval and post order support

3.







Headline activity data 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2021

3.1 Fifty-two children had decisions made by the local authority Agency
Decision Maker that they should be placed for adoption (SBPA), compared
to 73 the previous year. This is a significant decrease and is attributable to
delays in care proceedings and restructures within the local authorities.
3.2 In 2020-21, 26 of the SBPA decisions were for children from the BCP
Council area, and 26 from the Dorset Council area. Numbers each quarter
fluctuated within each local authority, with eighteen in Q2 of 2020-21 in BCP
Council, and only two in quarter three and one in Q4. Similarly, in Dorset
there were ten in Q1 and Q3 but only three in Q4.
3.3 There is no clear pattern which can be identified within or across the local
authorities in relation to numbers of SBPA decisions each quarter to
manage workloads for staff in Aspire, or to manage the workload of the
Agency Decision Makers in each local authority. A total of 251 SBPA
decisions have now been made since Aspire went live in July 2017, an
average of 16.7 SBPA decisions per quarter across the local authorities
funding Aspire.
3.4 Forty-one Placement Orders were made by the courts from 1st April 2020 to
31st March 2021. Nineteen were for children from the BCP Council area
twenty-two from the Dorset area. Following on from the local authority
decision that a child should be placed for adoption, Placement Orders give
social workers legal authority to place a child for adoption.
3.5 There continues to be a significant discrepancy between the number of
local authority decisions that a child should be adopted and the courts
making a Placement Order. This has been discussed with both local
authorities, who have been given the relevant data to consider the reasons
for this in relation to their permanency planning. It partly reflects the time lag
between a SBPA decision and the final court hearing date, or a local
authority change of plan before the final court hearing or the court making
an alternative permanence plan for the child.

Page 60

3.6 Fifty-two children in the care of the local authorities of Bournemouth,
Christchurch, Poole and Dorset were placed for adoption in the year,
compared to 52 the previous year. Twenty-nine of these were from the BCP
council area, and twenty-three were from the Dorset Council area. A total of
210 children have been placed for adoption since Aspire went live, an
average of 14 per quarter.
3.7 Eleven children were placed on an Early Permanent (EP) basis in 2020-21,
compared to nine in the previous year. Early Permanence means that
children can be placed on a fostering basis with approved adopters who will
go on to adopt them if the courts agree a Placement Order. All the children
placed on this basis in 2019-20 either have or will be adopted by these
families.
3.8 Of the 210 children placed for adoption between July 2017 and the end of
March 2021, all but 5 remain in their adoptive placement or have been
adopted. Disruption meetings are always held to learn lessons when a child
placed for adoption does not go on to be adopted.
3.9 At the end of March 2021, of the 35 children waiting with Placement Orders
but not yet placed, and where the plan continues to be adoption, seven
children have been linked / matched to adopters, 2 children are in EP
placements, the plan is that five children will be adopted by their foster
carers, and we are actively family finding for five children.
3.10 There were 10 children where Placement Orders had been granted but the
decision has been taken to rescind the decisions. Of these, 5 are boys, 5
are girls; 4 are in sibling groups. The reasons for rescinding the SBPA
decisions are due to the children remaining with their foster carers or
because adoption is no longer felt to be a viable plan.
3.11 It is clear that the most effective and efficient way to place children is for
Aspire to recruit and assess their own families to take children with more
complex needs. Recruitment activity has been the priority and targeted to
recruit families who will consider the children currently waiting.
3.12 A total of 59 children were adopted in 2020-21, compared with 41 the
previous year but with 36 children in adoption placements at the end of
March 2021. Adoption applications are not usually lodged with the court
until after the second Child in Care review after placement, about 3-4
months after a child has been placed with their adoptive family. Some
prospective adopters need longer still before they feel ready to lodge the

Page 61

application, which can lead to delay as the court application is the
prospective adopters’ application, not the local authority’s application.
3.13 National adoption scorecards measure timeliness in adoption activity on a 3
-year rolling average. They are published by the Department for Education
a year later than the activity they are reporting on. The available published
data is for the 3- year period 2016-19. Care has to be taken as small
numbers can result in significant swings in averages if just a few children
take longer to place for adoption. The outcome for the child is a positive one
but can reflect negatively on the data.
3.14 Aspire data for 2002-21 would suggest that for the Aspire local authorities, it
took an average of 270 days (BCP) and 177 days(Dorset) between the local
authority receiving court authority to place the child and the ADM deciding
on a match to an adoptive family. The England average from the 2016-19
adoption scorecards is 178 days. It took an average of 301 days (BCP) and
333 days (Dorset) between a child entering care and moving in with its
adoptive family. The England average from the provisional 2016-19
adoption scorecards is 376 days.
A1 Days between a child entering care & moving in with their adoptive family
(England average from the provisional 2016-19 scorecard is 382 days)
2020

2021

Apr-Jun

Jul-Sep

Oct-Dec

Jan-Mar

443

202

365

348

301

277

302

493

357

227

331

389

321

443

BCP
Dorset
Total

AprJun
443

2020
JulSep
202
277

OctDec
365
302

2021
JanMar
348
462

301
333

443

227

331

372

311

Page 62

A2 Days between an LA receiving court authority to place & deciding on a match
(England average from the provisional 2016-19 scorecard is 170 days)

BCP
Dorset
Total

AprJun
206

2020
JulSep
464
171

OctDec
163
109

2021
JanMar
128
270

270
177

206

355

133

162

238

3.15 Numbers of adopters approved in 2020-21 fell slightly short of the target for
the year of 50 with 48 families approved compared to 60 in 2019-20. The
reduction in number of approvals is attributable to the reduction in staffing in
the R&A team during 2020-21. Sufficient recruitment allows for most Aspire
children to be placed with Aspire assessed adopters, provides a surplus to
meet national sufficiency needs and brings income into Aspire to offset the
cost of any interagency placements which need to be purchased for Aspire
children.
3.16 For the last 3 years, numbers of referrals for special guardianship
assessments have settled to between 42 and 30 each quarter, and the total
number of referrals for each year averages 134 with 140 in 2020/21 and an
increasing trend line. The Special Guardianship Assessment Team were
staffed and funded for no more than 100 referrals a year, so have been
under considerable pressure in terms of capacity, especially as these
reports are court ordered and timetabled to be completed in no more than
12 weeks, often less. Assessments of prospective special guardians take
place across the country and not just in the wider Dorset area. In the last
year, areas where assessments have been undertaken include the West
Midlands, Oxfordshire, Somerset, London, Yorkshire, Sussex and Wales.

Page 63

3.17 The number of withdrawals or discontinuations prior to the report being filed
with the court has fallen in the last year from 38 in 2019-20 to 34 in 2020/21
with a downward trend line. This reflects the joint work between the local
authorities and Aspire to ensure that viability assessments are more robust
and that prospective special guardians have a clear understanding of what
a Special Guardianship Order would mean to them their families and the
child, as early as possible.

Page 64

3.18 The provision of post order adoption and special guardianship support is a
statutory requirement and where demand has been seen to be rising not
just locally but on a national basis. Numbers of open adoption and special
guardianship post order support cases in Aspire have remained high, with
at least 259 open cases at the end of March 2021.
3.19 By the end of March 2021, caseloads were an average of 41 cases for full time social workers or support workers. The case load weighting system
evidenced that caseloads were far higher than advised and did not take into
account the additional responsibilities of covering the daily duty rota,
running monthly support groups, workshops or training, managing indirect
contact (letterbox) cases, managing direct contact with birth relatives, or
linking in with other professionals e.g. linking in with local schools.
3.20 The tables below illustrate adoption activity quarter on quarter for each local
authority since Aspire went live in July 2017.

Adoption
Orders

BCP
Dorset
Total

AprJun
6
4

2019
JulSep
6
5

OctDec
8
4

JanMar
5
3

AprJun
2
0

2020
JulSep
15
9

OctDec
5
6

2021
JanMar
16
6

63
37

10

11

12

8

2

24

11

22

100

AprJun

2019
JulSep

OctDec

JanMar

AprJun

JulSep

OctDec

2021
JanMar

Placement
s
2020

Page 65

BCP
Dorset
Total

7
5

9
8

8
2

9
4

8
8

8
5

6
3

7
7

62
42

12

17

10

13

16

13

9

14

104

AprJun
8
2

2019
JulSep
9
5

OctDec
5
6

JanMar
5
6

AprJun
3
8

JulSep
7
4

OctDec
8
4

2021
JanMar
1
6

46
41

10

14

11

11

11

11

12

7

87

AprJun
19
5

2019
JulSep
9
6

OctDec
4
14

JanMar
10
6

AprJun
5
10

JulSep
18
5

OctDec
2
8

2021
JanMar
1
1

68
55

24

15

18

16

15

23

10

2

123

AprJun
1
1

2019
JulSep
1
0

OctDec
3
2

JanMar
1
0

AprJun
3
1

JulSep
1
0

OctDec
1
0

2021
JanMar
1
3

12
7

2

1

5

1

4

1

1

4

19

PO's

BCP
Dorset
Total

2020

SBPA

BCP
Dorset
Total

2020

EP

BCP
Dorset
Total

4.

2020

Covid-19

Page 66

4.1

During 2020-21 Aspire had to respond to the covid-19 pandemic. The majority of
work changed to on-line including most visits to adopters and special guardians,
court hearings, preparation courses, adoption panels, meetings and supervision.
Staff have primarily been working from home with a limited number attending the
office when required. Visits to children where Aspire holds case responsibility have
continued.

4.2

Despite the restrictions Aspire continued to place children with adopters, assess
and approve adopters and special guardians, and provide support throughout the
lockdowns.

4.3

Aspire was assisted by a government grant of £55,504 to provide additional
support to adoptive and special guardian families which included access to
additional social work support, education advice, psychology support, workshops
and subscriptions to the National Association of Therapeutic Parenting.

5.

Finance

5.1 Aspire is funded by the local authorities for whom it undertakes adoption
and special guardianship services.
5.2 The budget framework percentages agreed at the inception of the agency in
2017 were for contributions of 44.6% from Dorset County Council, 38.3%
from Bournemouth Borough Council and 17.1% from the Borough of Poole.
This was adjusted at the time of local government reorganisation in April
2019, to 59% from BCP Council and 41% from Dorset. This equates to a
total budget of £2,102,700 with contributions of £857,840 from Dorset and
£1,244,860 from BCP Council.
5.3 In the Inter Authority Agreement underpinning Aspire, it was agreed that
any underspend would go into the Aspire Earmarked Reserve. In the Inter
Authority Agreement it was agreed that any overspend was a shared risk
and would be split proportionately between the local authorities.
5.4 The provisional Budget Monitoring position for the period April 2020 to
March 2021 excludes the final end of year closedown adjustments that take
place therefore these figures are still the draft position until the closedown is
completed. However, they are not expected to vary considerably from this
position.
5.5 It appears that Aspire will be £167,000 overspent in 2020/21, after the
application of covid-19 funding towards the loss of income. There are
several reasons for this including a reduction in the income generated from
interagency fees, this was largely due to covid-19 and the reduction in
family finding activity in many local authorities. It has also been necessary

Page 67

to purchase adoption placements for children whose needs could not be
met by Aspire adopters.
5.6 Since Aspire went live in 2017 the staffing budget has not increased,
however, the cost of staffing has increased each year due to increments
and pay awards. The intention was that the staffing costs would be offset by
interagency fee income and in last two years the budget has balanced,
however, with increasing staffing costs and reduced ability to sell
placements this financial year has been challenging and has led to a
significant overspend.
5.7 In order to balance the budget the staffing levels in Aspire were contracted
which resulted in increased caseloads, reductions in the number of adopter
assessments, and difficulties with allocating special guardianship
assessments.
5.8

Aspire does not currently carrying any reserves to help smooth the
position, however the advantage of sharing the costs in this partnership
means the risk of overspend is shared proportionately by each authority.

5.9 The board being aware of the unstable financial position commissioned an
external review to examine the quality of the service it provides and in
particular whether it offers value for money.

5.10 The external review reported in December 2020. It concluded that Aspire
offers high quality services for adopters and children and is value for money
for the authorities. (Removing children from the care system through
adoption represents a significant saving for local authorities. The University
of Bristol have estimated costs of £34,320 a year for every year a child
remains in foster care.)
5.11 It should be noted that whilst cost pressures for staffing and external
placements remain a new service manager was appointed on the 6th of
April 2021 with a remit of working with Dorset and BCC to stabilise the
future financial position whilst retaining the quality of services. An
extraordinary board is set for the 17th of May to review the financial
arrangements.
6.

Commissioning

6.1 Most of the services which are the responsibility of Aspire are provided by
staff directly employed by the RAA, other than an independent support
service for birth families whose children have been adopted, and services

Page 68

provided by external therapeutic providers funded by the Adoption Support
Fund.
6.2 The independent support service to birth relatives affected by adoption is
commissioned out to Families for Children, the Voluntary Adoption Agency
which is partnered with Aspire. Quarterly contract review meetings are held.
The current contract runs to 31st September 2021 and the plan is to review
the contract during the first quarter of 2021/22.
6.3 Applications are made to the Adoption Support Fund (ASF) (funded by
central government) to pay external providers, when families need
therapeutic services which Aspire cannot provide in house. Providers are
checked out by the Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole Access to Resources
Team (ART). The ASF generates income for Aspire for therapeutic services
provided in house which can also be claimed via the ASF, generating £3020
in the year.

Appendix 1 Aspire Organisational Structure and Staffing

Page 69

7.

Staffing

7.1 There are 42.61 permanent full -time equivalent posts in Aspire (reduced
from 45 in April 2020), with the permanent staffing establishment
supplemented by those on casual or fixed term contracts to increase
capacity where needed. Many of the staff work part time, with the total
number of staff comprising of social workers, support workers, and business
support staff totalling about 54.
7.2 The service is led and managed by the Aspire Adoption Service Manager,
Jennifer Warr, Jennifer Warr is a qualified social worker, has a management
qualification and is registered with Social Work England.
7.3 The Recruitment & Assessment Team comprises of a team manager,
practice manager, 0.5 Family Support Practitioner and 5.69 social workers.
This is a reduction of 1.31 FTE Social Workers since April 2020. All are
registered with Social Work England
7.4 The Family Finding, Matching and Placement Team comprises of a team
manager, 0.81 FTE practice manager and 4.3 social workers (a reduction of
1.2 social workers since April 2020) FTE social workers, all of whom are
registered with Social Work England, and 3.64 FTE family support workers.
7.5 The Special Guardianship Assessment team has a team manager, practice
manager and 4.27 social workers – this is a reduction of 1.23 FTE social
workers since April 2020. One FTE social worker is on maternity leave and
is only backfilled with 0.5 FTE social worker meaning that the actual number

Page 70

of staff in the team currently is 3.77 FTE social workers. All are registered
with Social Work England.
7.6 The Adoption & Special Guardianship Support team has a team manager,
0.81 FTE practice manager and 4.31 FTE social workers, which is a
reduction of 0.69 FTE social workers since April 2020, all of whom are
registered with Social Work England. The team also has 2 FTE family
support workers, and a 0.4 FTE clinical psychologist.
7.7 There are 2 FTE Permanence Coordinators, who also act as Agency
Advisers to the Aspire Adoption Panel and Aspire Agency Decision Maker,
and to the Agency Decision Makers in the local authorities in relation to
decisions as to whether a child should be adopted.
7.8 The service is supported by 6 FTE business support staff including a senior
business support officer, a panel administrator, and a marketing, media and
monitoring officer.
7.9 All of the social workers employed by Aspire are registered with Social
Work England, and many of the staff, including support workers, have
additional qualifications including skills in a variety of therapeutic
interventions such as theraplay, sensory integration, mindfulness and DDP
(Dyadic Developmental Psychotherapy).
7.10 Aspire also has access to dedicated clinical psychology support for staff
and service users.
7.11 No agency staff are employed, and any vacancies attract a high standard of
applications across all areas of the work undertaken by Aspire. Casual staff
add capacity for one off pieces of work in the Recruitment and Assessment
Team and the Special Guardianship Assessment Team. The 3 fixed term
contract staff in place at the beginning of the year have now transferred into
permanent positions as they became available when staff left. There is one
part time social worker contracted to cover maternity leave and another fulltime social worker contracted to cover a vacancy.

8.

Staff training and development

8.1 Staff in Aspire have access to training and courses run by Bournemouth,
Christchurch, Poole Council as the host authority paying for these from the
Aspire training budget of £8,000 a year. They have access to external

Page 71

courses, but only dependent on budgetary restrictions. In 2020/21 12
members staff attended Dyadic Developmental Parenting training.
8.2 Staff have monthly supervision and annual appraisals, and regular team
case and practice reflection sessions are facilitated by the clinical
psychologists
8.3

A staff forum for all staff in Aspire is held every 4 months to update on
Aspire performance data, local and national issues relating to the service
and to develop the team service plans.

Appendix 2 - Governance
The following is taken from the Inter Authority Agreement
SCHEDULE 2 – TERMS OF REFERENCE
Governance Structure

Page 72

Part 1 – Strategic Partnership Board
1

Name:
The name of the Board for Aspire Adoption shall be the Strategic Partnership Board which
is established pursuant to an Inter Authority Agreement between Bournemouth Borough
Council, Dorset County Council and the Borough of Poole ("the Councils") for the creation
of a Regional Adoption Agency.

2

Role:
The Board will provide advice, oversight and endorsement of the strategic direction of Aspire
Adoption.

3

4

5

The Board will:
3.1

Provide and review the strategic direction of Aspire Adoption;

3.2

Oversee, review and endorse budget setting and make recommendations to the
Councils for Aspire Adoption;
3.2.1

Oversee, review and endorse the Business Plan annually and make
recommendations to the Councils for Aspire Adoption;

3.2.2

Attempt to resolve disputes between the Councils under the terms of the
Inter Authority Agreement.

Accountability and Responsibility:
4.1

Each Local Authority is responsible for ensuring that their nominated representative(s)
(or named substitute) are available to attend all Board meetings, which will be
scheduled in advance.

4.2

All members of the Board will be in a position to make decisions within their respective
organisation, where appropriate.

4.3

All members of the Board will be responsible for reporting to their organisation, through
their respective governance arrangements.

Meetings of the Board
5.1

The Board will meet every six months or at a greater or lesser frequency if it so decides.

Page 73

6

5.2

The Board will elect a Chairperson and Vice Chairperson from amongst its members.

5.3

The Chairperson will agree the dates, times and venues for the meetings of the Board.
The meeting timetable will be scheduled over the year, to reflect both planned
monitoring and evaluation requirements.

5.4

The Chairperson shall normally preside at all meetings of the Board.

5.5

The Chairperson will be responsible for agreeing meeting agendas and draft minutes
for circulation.

5.6

Agendas and papers for the meeting will be sent out at least five working days prior to
the meeting in order to provide time for members of the Board to read them and identify
actions for their own organisations.

5.7

Minutes of meeting will be circulated within 5 working days after the meeting with an
action list.

Membership:
6.1

6.2

6.3

7

The Board will consist of:
6.1.1

Portfolio Holder and Executive Director for Children’s Services for
Bournemouth Borough Council;

6.1.2

Cabinet Member for Learning, Skills and Children's Safeguarding and
Corporate Director for Children's, Adults and Community Services for
Dorset County Council;

6.1.3

Portfolio Holder and Strategic Director for Children’s Services for the
Borough of Poole Council.

The Board will consult (so far as it considers proper and appropriate to do so):
6.2.1

Representatives from local Voluntary Adoption Agencies/Families for
Children; and

6.2.2

A representative from Stakeholders.

Members of the Board should:
6.3.1

Commit to attending the majority of meetings or nominate a suitable
substitute who can attend in their place who will be expected to exercise the
powers of the Member for whom they are substituting. Only Board members
or their named representatives can attend Board meetings;

6.3.2

Uphold and support the Board decisions and be prepared to follow though
actions and decisions for the Board proposals and declaring any conflict of
interest should it arise;

6.3.3

Be prepared to represent the Board at stakeholder events and support the
agreed consensus view of the Board when speaking on behalf of the Board
to other parties.

Voting – Quorum

Page 74

7.1

No quorum is necessary for the routine business and the receiving of reports. However,
where the Chairperson determines that a critical decision is required there must be a
representative from all the Councils.

7.2

In the spirit of effective collaboration and partnership working, the Board will always
seek to come to agreement through consensus and unanimity following debate and
discussion where all the members will be encouraged to participate.

7.3

The Members of the Board will be expected to subscribe to the seven principles of
public life in their work and decision making. The principles are selflessness, integrity,
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership.

7.4

Members will be expected to declare any personal interests in the business of the Board
and to withdraw from participation where such interests are prejudicial or pecuniary.

Part 2 – Operational Management Board

1

Name:
The name of the Board for Aspire Adoption shall be the Operational Management Board
which is established pursuant to an Inter Authority Agreement between Bournemouth
Borough Council, Dorset County Council and the Borough of Poole ("the Councils") for the
creation of a Regional Adoption Agency.

2

Role:
The Board will provide support, advice and management to Aspire Adoption to ensure that
statutory requirements and the Business Plan is delivered effectively.

3

4

5

The Board will:
3.1

oversee the implementation of the Aspire Adoption Budget and Business Plan;

3.2

oversee the commissioning arrangements and operational performance against agreed
local priorities and targets and in line with national priorities and targets.

Accountability and Responsibility:
4.1

Each Local Authority is responsible for ensuring that their nominated representative(s)
(or named substitute) are available to attend all Board meetings, which will be
scheduled in advance.

4.2

This Board will report to the Strategic Partnership Board.

Meetings of the Board
5.1

The Board will meet quarterly or at a greater or lesser frequency if it so decides.

5.2

The Board will elect a Chairperson and Vice Chairperson from amongst its members.

5.3

The Chairperson will agree the dates, times and venues for the meetings of the Board.
The meeting timetable will be scheduled over the year, to reflect both planned
monitoring and evaluation requirements.

5.4

The Chairperson shall normally preside at all meetings of the Board.

Page 75

6

5.5

The Chairperson will be responsible for agreeing meeting agendas and draft minutes
for circulation.

5.6

Agendas and papers for the meeting will be sent out at least five working days prior to
the meeting in order to provide time for members of the Board to read them and identify
actions for their own organisations.

5.7

Minutes of meeting will be circulated within 5 working days after the meeting with an
action list.

Membership:
6.1

The Board will consist of:
6.1.1

Service Director for Children’s Social Care for Bournemouth;

6.1.2

Assistant Director – Care and Protection for Dorset;

6.1.3

Head of Children & Young People’s Social Care for Poole; 6.1.4
Children’s Services Commissioners from each of the three Parties;

7

6.1.5

Adoption Aspire Manager.

6.2

Members of the Board should:
6.2.1

Commit to attending the majority of meetings or nominate a suitable
substitute who can attend in their place who will be expected to exercise the
powers of the Member for whom they are substituting. Only Board members
or their named representatives can attend Board meetings;

6.2.2

Uphold and support the Board decisions and be prepared to follow though
actions and decisions and declaring any conflict of interest should it arise;

6.2.3

Be prepared to represent the Board at stakeholder events and support the
agreed consensus view of the Board when speaking on behalf of the Board
to other parties.

Voting – Quorum
7.1

No quorum is necessary for the routine business and the receiving of reports. However,
where the Chairperson determines that a critical decision is required there must be a
representative from all the Councils.

7.2

In the spirit of effective collaboration and partnership working, the Board will always
seek to come to agreement through consensus and unanimity following debate and
discussion where all the members will be encouraged to participate.

7.3

The Members of the Board will be expected to subscribe to the seven principles of
public life in their work and decision making. The principles are selflessness, integrity,
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership.

7.4

Members will be expected to declare any personal interests in the business of the Board
and to withdraw from participation where such interests are prejudicial or pecuniary.

Page 76

Appendix 3 - Registered Manager/Responsible Officer and Agency Decision
Maker (ADM) Role
8.1 Until 1st April 2019, the Registered Manager/Responsible Officer for
Bournemouth Borough Council, under regulation 5 of the Local Authority
Adoption Service (England) Regulations 2003, was one of the service
managers in Bournemouth. In Poole, the role was undertaken by the Head

Page 77

of Children and Young People’s Services. In Dorset, the role was
undertaken by the Senior Manager, Placements and Resources. All are
members of the Aspire Operational Management Board. From 1st April
2019, the role was undertaken for BCP Council by the Service Manager for
Aspire Adoption, and by the Senior Manager, Placements and Resources
for Dorset Council and since 1st April 2020 the role has been undertaken by
senior managers in BCP and Dorset.
8.2 In 2020-21, the Agency Decision Maker for approvals of prospective
adopters was the Aspire Service Manager. There were also Agency
Decision Makers in each local authority for Should Be Placed for Adoption
(SBPA) decisions for their Children in Care and for matches of those
children.
8.3 All of the Agency Decision Makers have social work and management
qualifications and are registered with Social Work England and previously
with HCPC.

Appendix 4 - Aspire Adoption Panel

9.1 Aspire Adoption operates an Adoption Panel, constituted in accordance with
legislation, regulations and guidance. The panel has an independent
chairperson, and 16 members on a Central List from which each pan16el is
drawn. There is no legal maximum number of panel members at each panel
but in practice, a maximum of 6 or 7 attend each panel, including the panel

Page 78

chair and a social worker. The designated doctor for looked after children in
the local authorities funding Aspire is also the agency medical adviser and
is a full member of the panel.
9.2 The panel is serviced by a panel administrator and has access to legal
advice if needed. The professional advice to the panel is provided by the
two Permanence Coordinators, one of whom attends each Panel to ensure
the smooth running and to advise on policies and procedures.
9.3 Current membership includes individuals with personal experience of
adoption as adopters and adopted adults. It also includes experienced
social workers with direct experience of adoption work, a psychotherapist
with experience of working in a child and adolescent mental health setting,
and panel members with experience of working in an educational setting.
9.4 Members of the Central List from which individual panel membership is
drawn reflect the diversity of modern society as far as possible, and include
those who are single, in heterosexual and same sex relationships. One
panel member on the Central List has personal experience of disability.
There is some diversity in terms of age, with panel members in their 30s
and others who are retired. Although most panel members are of white
British ethnic origin, one panel members is of black African ethnicity and
another is of Indian descent.
9.5 The functions of the panel in relation to adoption matters are




to recommend whether prospective adopters are suitable to adopt a child;
to recommend whether a proposed match between a child and prospective
adopters is a suitable one.
In circumstances where a child is relinquished for adoption and no
Placement Order is applied for, the panel will recommend whether the child
should be placed for adoption

9.6 The panel can also give advice about the numbers and ages of children in
relation to prospective adopters, also about post adoption contact,
delegated parental responsibility and adoption support. The panel has a
consultative role regarding the agency's policies and procedures, and a
monitoring role regarding quality assurance and ensuring that the time
scales set out in the Adoption & Children Act 2002 are met.
9.7 The Aspire Adoption Panel makes recommendations based on detailed
written reports prepared by the child's social worker and adoption social

Page 79

worker, and the social worker and team manager’s attendance at panel to
clarify points if needed.
9.8 When considering the approval or deregistration of prospective adopters or
a match between prospective adopters and a child, adoptive applicants
have the option of attending panel in person, to provide scope to discuss
and clarify any issues relevant to the application. Applicants who decide not
to attend in person are not disadvantaged in any way and no judgement is
made from their decision not to do so although every effort will be made to
assist their attendance.
9.9 The recommendations and advice of the panel are referred, along with the
final agreed minutes of the meeting, to the Agency Decision Maker, for a
decision to be made and conveyed to all parties within the time scales laid
down in the Adoption & Children Act 2002.
9.10 The Panel chair is independent, is an experienced chair and an adopter of 2
children. He attends the Aspire Strategic Partnership Board and presents a
report to the Aspire Operational Management Board and Strategic
Partnership Board every 6 months in line with standard 17 of the Adoption
Minimum Standards, on the quality of reports being presented to the panel.
This includes whether the requirements of the Restrictions on the
Preparation of Adoption Reports Regulations 2005 have been met, and
whether there is a thorough, rigorous, consistent and fair approach across
the service in the assessment of whether a child should be placed for
adoption, the suitability of prospective adopters and the proposed
placement. His most recent report is included as Appendix 5
a.

In 2020/21 the Adoption Panels have all been held virtually due to the
covid 19 pandemic. The panels have adjusted well to the new way of
working and business has been uninterrupted.

Appendix 5 - Panel chair’s report April 2021
Aspire Adoption Panel Chair’s Bi-Annual Report
June 2020 - March 2021

Introduction

Page 80

At the meeting of the Strategic Board in January 2021 we agreed that the Panel
Chair’s Report should move to a six-monthly cycle aligned with Aspire’s Financial
Year. This report therefore reflects data for the twelve months to 31st March
2021 and also panel performance between 1st July 2020 and 31st March 2021.
Panel continues to operate virtually, having also completed training and
appraisals using this format over the last few months.
Our focus continues to be the best interests of the children for whom we approve
adopters and agree matches. I would like to pay tribute to my Panel colleagues
and the Aspire staff with whom we work, who have universally shown incredible
resourcefulness, resilience and good humour in adjusting our practices to ensure
no interruption to our work, while reflecting changing Government guidance.
Panel
Panel met on twenty-five occasions between July 1st 2020 and March 31st 2021.
There are currently 17 members on the Central List, of whom 9 members
including the chair and two vice chairs are independent members.
Panel membership has changed in the last nine months to a greater extent than
at any time during Aspire’s existence. This has been largely as a consequence of
changes to team structure in BCP and Aspire and the loss of social work
members who had been working in both organisations. This vulnerability was
identified in the autumn and recruitment was undertaken for more independent
social work members, of whom panel now has four, reducing the reliance on the
remaining social work members from within Aspire.
Two of our adopter members also retired, leaving the two male members of
Panel as the remaining adopter members. A further recruitment process has just
been concluded where an additional, female, adopter has been recruited.
Membership of Panel now consists of:








An independent chair who is also an adopter.
Two medical advisers.
15 women and 2 men.
15 are white, 13 British and 1 Canadian. 2 panel members are black
British. One panel member has a partner who is Polish.
3 panel members are gay.
1 panel member is registered disabled.
1 panel member is currently a single parent to dependent youngsters. 2
others have experience of having been single parents.

Page 81











3 panel members were adopted as children.
2 panel members are adoptive parents. Their children were placed aged
between 18 months and 4 years and are now aged between 7 and 15.
One of the adopters also has birth children.
6 panel members are registered social workers. Of these 2 work for
Aspire and 4 are independent social workers. One independent social
worker was previously a CAFCASS guardian, two were managers within
Aspire, one was a senior manager in Children’s Services for Dorset
Council.
2 additional members have medical backgrounds.
1 panel member was a magistrate in the family court.
1 panel member has a background in education.
1 panel members is a psychotherapist.

The panel members come from a range of social and economic backgrounds.
Covid-19
During July 2020, Panel continued to meet virtually using Skype as the platform
for contact. In August we moved to using Microsoft Teams, which has been a
more versatile and user-friendly medium.
From attending Panel Chairs’ meetings arranged by both Coram BAAF and
SWAC it has become clear that Aspire’s Panel has been unique in continuing to
operate normally throughout the Pandemic.
Many other agencies stopped holding Panel meetings during the first lockdown.
Most now have resumed but in a different format, often with the questions
prepared in advance and asked by the Chair only.
We have not followed this route, rather operating as normal with each Panel
member asking their own question and with time built in to discuss questions
before speaking to applicants.
A unique, and I feel essential, part of our maintaining a ‘normal’ Panel routine
online has been the introduction of a Teams call between the Chair and
prospective adopters ahead of Panel. This has enabled any technical issues to
be resolved, a description of how the Panel will work to be given and
management of expectations around timescale and virtual meeting etiquette.
Panel Business
Aspire’s Adoption Panel has undertaken the following business over the past
nine months:

Page 82

July 2020 –
March 2021

January –
June
2020

July –
December
2019

January –
June
2019

Approvals

33

28

31

23

Approvals deferred

2

0

2

1

Matches

34

26

27

25

De-Registration

3

3

3

1

Should be placed for
adoption

1

Review of Adopters

1

Total

74

57

63

50

Matches of children with adopters
The statistics for Adoption Placements show the number matches to have
remained consistent in the last 12 months.

Page 83

Adoption Placements 2019-21
18

17

16

16

14
12

12
9

10
8
6

13

7

8

8

10

5

9

8 8

8

9
5

4

4

14

13

6

7 7

3

2

2
0
Apr-Jun
2019

Jul-Sep

Oct-Dec
BCP

Jan-Mar
2020
Dorset

Apr-Jun

Jul-Sep

Oct-Dec

Jan-Mar
2021

Total

Adopters
Panel considered 34 recommendations for approval in the period July 2020 to
March 2021, all those presented were approved with the exception of two
applicants. A single adopter was deferred by ADM after being approved by
Panel as a consequence of additional information coming to light post Panel.
The second case was that of a couple whose approval was deferred at the end of
March 2021. This case is being re-considered with the additional information
required provided, at the April 7th Panel.
Those approved included 29 heterosexual couples and 7 same sex couples.
Additionally, there were four single carers presented for approval to Panel during
the period.

Page 84

Approved Adopters 2019-21
17

16

18

15

14

16

13

14

13
10

12

10

10
8
6
4
2
0
Apr-Jun
2019

Jul-Sep

Oct-Dec

Jan-Mar
2020

Apr-Jun

Jul-Sep

Oct-Dec

Jan-Mar
2021

Appraisals
Annual appraisals for all Panel members commenced in January 2021 and all but
one member’s appraisal have been completed at the time of writing this report.
Quality of Social Worker Reports
The quality of social worker reports remains high. The feedback system
established in October 2019 continued until lockdown. Obtaining feedback from
Panel members was challenging during 2020. I am pleased to say that a system
for managing the feedback process was agreed at the beginning of 2021 and has
been operating effectively since then.
Training
There have been three Panel training events held remotely between July 2020
and March 2021.
Focus has been on disruptions, medical advice, particularly in the respect of
obesity, questioning and Panel feedback.
The Future
Feedback from other Panels points to there being a preference to remain virtual
as the effects of the pandemic diminish. Having discussed our future
arrangements with both Panel Advisors and members there is a strong feeling
that we should return to meetings in person as soon as it is safe to do so.

Page 85

Subject to Government restrictions it is our intention to operate in person from
August or September 2021. The universal feeling being that meeting adopters
provides an additional level of understanding and insight.
Virtual Panels will still be used where requested by adopters, where we need to
consider cases at short notice and where adopters are geographically remote.
Conclusion
Despite the enormous challenges for us all over the last year, I am proud to
report that Aspire’s Panel continues to work well.
We have been able to offer appropriate scrutiny and challenge, reports are of a
good standard. Our Panel Advisors and administrators have provided
outstanding support to Panel and have approached the challenges of switching
to virtual meetings with pragmatism and proactivity.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank Jayne, Karran, Angela and Tanya for
their support, advice and good humour.

Page 86

Agenda Item 6
People and Health Scrutiny Committee
Date 8 June 2021
How has Covid-19 affected children with
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
and their families?
For Review and Consultation
Portfolio Holder:

Cllr A Parry, Children, Education, Skills and Early Help

Local Councillor(s):
Executive Director:

All
T Leavy, Executive Director of People - Children

Report Author:
Title:

Miriam Leigh
Principal Educational Psychologist and Head of
Locality and Strategy - North
01305 228320
miriam.leigh@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Tel:
Email:
Report Status: Public

Recommendation:
That the Committee note and support the work being done to support children
and young people (CYP) with special education needs and disabilities (SEND).
That the Committee provides challenge and support to improve the experience of
CYP with SEND.

1.

Executive Summary

This paper sets out the experience of children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities during the Covid-19 pandemic and how Dorset
Council Children’s Services responded alongside its partners.
During the Covid-19 pandemic there have been over 300 pieces of guidance and
policy changes that have had an impact on children’s services requiring a
response, one of the most significant was the decision taken to close schools for

Page 87

Page 1 of 15

most pupils on the 18th March 2020 with no clear timeline for when they would reopen. Our education community has never worked more closely together.
Through a period of crisis, schools, education settings, community partners,
health partners, children, young people and their families with the Council have
generated innovative solutions to challenges faced during Covid-19. The
partnership mobilised, responded quickly, demonstrated agility and most
importantly lived a one team, one Dorset, approach to support our vulnerable
children and young people.
To coordinate our responses, we set up a network of headteachers, representing
geographical and phase clusters that met daily to plan together and address
concerns. We focused on supporting the most vulnerable children and young
people, who would not be able to be in school. Together we developed a
business intelligence tool called the vulnerable children’s tracker and focused on
key data to support our decision making with Public Health to ensure our schools
had the information they needed to respond. We set up new communications
channels and redeployed council officers to work alongside schools to support
them to remain open over the Easter holidays and beyond. We collaborated on
identifying those who would benefit and/or needed IT equipment and support,
sharing of resources for support and learning and the creation of advice and
support lines.
During Covid-19, services have been given greater permission to share
information to better identify and support families with needs resulting in new
ways of working, increased agility in the workforce and more timely and coordinated interventions. We were able to use the vulnerable children tracker to
have oversight of attendance of all vulnerable children and young people, but in
particular those with SEND.

2.

School attendance tracker

In response to school closures we created and implemented a new system to
track attendance and risk of vulnerable children. The list of children was brought
together based on the DfE definition of vulnerable children in order to respond to
changing circumstances as families adjusted differently to life in lock down.

Page 88

Page 2 of 15

Each school, regardless of whether they are an academy or maintained, was
allocated a link worker from the early help workforce and educational psychology
service. All maintained special schools had an educational psychologist as their
link worker. The link worker had a weekly meeting with the school. The regular
meeting of school cluster leads and link workers provided a key avenue for
communicating with schools and helped to set up a successful monitoring
process which included collecting attendance and risk judgement data from
schools on a weekly basis to allow early intervention where issues were identified
(such as low attendance of key cohorts).
We also developed links with non-maintained schools and settings and had
internal Council departments link with different settings to collect weekly
attendance and risk data.
From April 2020 to July 2020 we could see that the attendance for CYP with an
EHCP increased.
The Figures below set out examples of the live dashboard used to track data.

Figure 1: Focus on children with a Dorset EHCP attendance over the
summer term, demonstrating the success of getting more pupils back to
school each week:

Page 89

Page 3 of 15

We have continued to use the vulnerable children tracker with the support of our
schools and can see how the attendance was sustained during the autumn term
2020 despite a lockdown during the month of November.

Figure 2: Focus on children with a Dorset EHCP attendance over the
autumn term 2020 to March 2021.

Regarding our work with schools, we had particularly good responses from the
Dorset special schools, with 100 percent response rate for every week of the
summer term. In the final week of term for special schools, 61% of children
attended school. We continued to track attendance in the Dorset maintained
special schools and to have regular link worker meetings.
During the Autumn term the attendance increased considerably and in many of
the schools this was over 90%. In January this dropped during the third lockdown
period, we continued to work with the schools and families to provide home
learning activities and to ensure they were safe and receiving meaningful
learning activities for their age, ability and aptitude. Our services worked
together and with the schools to identify support that was needed from a range of
other professionals. The schools worked with the families and children and our
SEND provision Leads to ensure the CYP were receiving appropriate provision.

Page 90

Page 4 of 15

The figure below sets out the attendance in our maintained special schools.

Figure 3: Focus on children with a Dorset EHCP in our maintained special
schools

3.

Education Health Care Assessments

During the period from April 2020 to end of March 2021 we continued to receive
the same number of requests for Education, Health and Care Assessments as in
previous years, irrespective of schools being partially open for many months
during this period. 598 requests were received of which 463 were agreed to take
forward for EHC needs assessments. Professionals providing advice towards
the assessment adapted their approach and moved many of the services and
assessments to online assessments.
Families were offered a choice as to how to carry out the assessment. For some
agencies such as the speech and language therapy service this proved to be
more of challenge due to the nature of the assessments carried out and the need
for face to face interaction to complete quality assessments.

Page 91

Page 5 of 15

Despite these challenges we continued to meet the 20 week issuing of final EHC
Plan deadline for most of the EHC needs assessments. Of the 463 agreed EHC
needs assessments 446 led to an Education Health and Care Plan of which 79%
on average (for the 2020 calendar year) were completed within the statutory 20
week time scale. Achieving this was dependent on receiving professional advice
in a timely manner and working with the families, schools and education settings
as well as the professionals and maintaining an open communication to ensure
the families collaborated in the process.
The service published revised annual review guidance in collaboration with the
Dorset Parent Carer Council for schools and professionals, to enable reviews to
continue to take place throughout the pandemic in an inclusive way.
4.

Education Psychology Covid-19 parent helpline

At the outset of Covid-19 parents and carers of children and young people with
SEND had increased worries about education, routines and the challenges of
home schooling given the level of support our children and young people receive
at educational settings. Working together with the Dorset Parent Carer Council
(DPCC) the service agreed to set up a telephone helpline to respond to queries
they were receiving from parents, offering telephone consultations with an
education psychologist five days a week morning and afternoon. The helpline
was open to all families, not just those with SEND.
The helpline was clearly promoted both through DPCC but also through the
Council’s communications, website, the SEND newsletter and via schools.
Between 27th April – 26th August a total 115 telephone consultations took place
Most of the enquires related to children and young people who attended a Dorset
school including two independent schools. At least two of the children and young
people were electively home educated.
The nature of the calls focused on:


Raised anxiety of both children and young people and parents and
managing behaviors at home



Relationships between siblings and managing fallouts

Page 92

Page 6 of 15



Support and advice for children and young people with
neurodevelopmental difficulties such as Autistic Spectrum Condition and
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and managing these at home



Home learning and how to support their child with SEND



Shared care between parents and how to manage this during lockdown
with an anxious child



Access to other agencies and mediating between home and school



Anxiety about return to school and getting ill



How to support their child when schools reopen



Transition to a new school when the usual transition process has not been
available



Seeking support to talk school and other agencies for support what to do
and who to talk to

Parents and carers who would not typically have accessed support from an
Education Psychologist were able to get support quickly and in a reassuring way.
The service was able to email helpful resources to parents such as social stories
and five point scales to give parents and carers tools to support.
This support in addition to the support parents and carers were receiving from
schools was an additional layer of essential support to our children and young
people. Education psychologists were able to follow up consultations with
schools and other agencies where additional support was needed, creating a
valuable front door to access services for our families.
We have continued to provide this offer throughout the pandemic. Since 13
October 2020 to 24 April 2021 we have received 57 calls. 44 of the calls were
during the period of January 2021 to end of March 2021. We will continue to offer
this helpline as we progress.

5.

Education Psychology Covid-19 parent helpline

In March 2020 there were 32 (10.1%) 16-17yr old with an EHCP who were NEET
(1 teen parent, 8 taking break due to illness and 20 seeking EET). Of the 18-24year olds with an EHCP 54 were NEET (15.2%), 18 of whom were seeking
education, employment or training and 4 were volunteering. During Covid-19 the

Page 93

Page 7 of 15

number of 16-17-year olds with an EHCP who are NEETs has not changed,
while the number of young people between 18-24s has dropped to 43 who are
NEET.
Ansbury’s service also offered support to prevent young people becoming NEET.
This included contacting all young people who were in transition to check and
support their planning and support needs. Council SEND caseworkers had more
time to update EHCP plans and social workers returned calls quickly following up
any queries.
In response to Dorset Council’s commitment to re-engaging NEET young people
during Covid-19, Ansbury have reorganised their teams to work alongside the
Council’s new locality model and they have put more advisors into NEET
support. Ansbury have trained more staff to work with the EHCP cohort and
ensured that they know about provision locally and nationally. Using the positive
experiences advisors will seek to continue to speak to parents when we make
telephone contact and to involve them in supporting their child where possible.
Advisors will collate more information on individual needs, including identifying
gaps in provision and support for young people that may be preventing them
from moving into EET outcomes. Dorset Council are bidding to JobCentre Plus
for a Dorset Youth Hub to support 16-24-year olds who are unemployed or at risk
of unemployment.

6.

Mainstream inclusion and expansion SEND provision

Dorset Council is ambitious for all its children and young people with SEND and
increased vulnerabilities and is committed to providing a great education and
supporting strong life outcomes.
Dorset is committed to inclusion in mainstream and we firmly believe every
teacher is a teacher of special needs. Therefore, building the capabilities of our
mainstream schools to support more children and young people with SEND will
ensure more children can attend a local school. Strengthening the capacity of our
maintained school system to support more children in mainstream and meeting
need at the lowest level is at the core of our strategy. However, we recognise
that whilst most children and young people will be supported in a mainstream
school, some need more specialist support in specialist provision.

Page 94

Page 8 of 15

The Dorset Council Plan 2020-2024 sets out that the Council will provide more
specialist education for children with complex communication and learning
needs. The published Children and Young People Plan 2020-2023 develops the
strategy further within its key priority area: Best Education for All. This priority
area is supported by the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Capital
Strategy 2020-25, which will create approximately 500 places across Dorset,
including 280 places at the former St Mary’s site from January 2022.
We currently have two Free School (Special School) projects underway with the
Department for Education (DfE) to expand specialist provision for Dorset.
The first of these is Harbour School, which is set to create 140 places for children
and young people with Autism. The school is currently open with a small number
of students in temporary accommodation while the DfE build a new school on
the old Bovington Middle School site. The project has a planned completion date
of September 2022, following several construction delays. We continue to liaise
with the DfE who are the lead for this scheme and have raised our concerns
about the delays incurred and the impact on our children and young people.
The second project is a proposed 75 place free school which was granted a
capital allocation in 2019. The DfE have undertaken a long-term feasibility study
on a site and after much delay, have indicated that there are issues from the
study which may prevent them using this site for their new build. The Council
team will meet with the DfE this month to discuss the outcome of their feasibility
and next steps for this important project.

7.

Preparation for adulthood and transitions

Dorset Children’s Services and Adult Social Care Strategic leads have agreed a
project to scope the existing services, structure, processes and data relating to
transitions and preparation for adulthood for our young people in both
Directorates and present proposals for a redesign of Children’s and Adult
Services provision to deliver an ambitious 0-25 service offer for children and
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) including
a preparedness for adulthood approach.
The Care Act 2014 places a duty on Local Authorities to conduct transition
assessments for children, children’s carers and young carers where there is a

Page 95

Page 9 of 15

likely need for care and support after a young person turns 18 and a transition
assessment would be of ‘significant benefit’ at a point in time.
Practice suggests that many young people who come to the attention of adult
social care at or after the age of 18 are typically known to children’s services by
virtue of social care and / or a special educational need.
The Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan introduced in the Children and
Families Act 2014 promotes the closer collaboration between professionals to
support children and young people with SEND including the promotion of
information sharing. This is a consistent theme in much of social care practice.
Sign off of the new approach is expected to be achieved in July 2021.

8.

Risk Assessments

From the outset of Covid-19 Dorset worked with the schools to establish a
shared system for schools to share their evaluations about the vulnerabilities of
children and young people within their settings. This included those children and
young people with an EHCP and specifically any children being supported
through SEN Support that the school felt required a risk assessment. Schools
developed their own risk assessments based on the DfE guidance and we
worked closely with schools to use their own professional judgements in
partnership with the parents and carers.
The risk assessment process was triangulated with our professional services and
SEND team judgements based on a simple proforma asking the following
questions:


How are you keeping in contact with …? How often is this?



What activities and how are you providing for …?



How are you trying to maintain progress towards the EHCP outcomes?



What are you doing to maintain a sense of belonging to the school
community?



Do you or the family need additional support with any of the above or
anything else? If so, what do you think would be helpful?



Can any of the SEND specialist services fulfil this? EP, SENSS, HVSS,
PMNS

Page 96

Page 10 of 15



How do you know that … is safe?



Do you speak to … or have you seen them virtually?



What is in place for the family if things change? Who would they contact?

9.

Summer in Dorset

Over the summer holidays with schools taking a break from providing regular
contact, we wanted to make sure these children and young people could still
access positive activities and support.
Our ambition was to ensure sure these children and young people experienced a
summer of hope by:


supporting the development of our most vulnerable children



helping children and young people to socialise



helping children and young people to make sense of the wider
environment

A programme of activities was led by a mix of commissioned providers and
Children’s Services locality teams. Summer in Dorset passes were issued to
5,300 children and young people to be exchanged an unlimited amount of times
at these activities and other existing activities that were accepting the passes.
Our desire to deliver Summer in Dorset was in part driven by the lack of activities
scheduled for the summer, due to concerns about Covid-19. Working with
support from Public Health Dorset and with the financial support of Dorset
Council, providers were encouraged to deliver activities. Whilst this was not a
government scheme and was developed locally, there was positive feedback
from Ofsted during their visit in October 2020 on the impact of this scheme.
Of the 5,361 vulnerable children and young people eligible for a Summer in
Dorset pass, 2,837 have an allocated SEND caseworker. Their pass granted
them free access to 142 activities happening during the month of August. The
range of activities was wide and included Circus skills; Paddle boarding and
canoeing; various indoor and outdoor sports; Theatre skills; Nature walks;
Musical instrument group sessions and Outdoor adventures.
Uncertainty on the changing government guidelines for large gatherings and our
providers lack of surety to put in place arrangements, resulted in the decision to

Page 97

Page 11 of 15

press ahead with the Summer in Dorset programme on a reduced planning
timetable. This provided some key challenges. Whilst comprehensive, the
programme of activities was weaker in some areas including our offer of activities
for young people aged 18-25 years with an EHCP and the spread of activities for
children with a disability across the county. The passes and information to book
arrived very close to the start of August before all activities were listed. Some
activities were booked up very fast, giving the impression that there were limited
options.
From the survey of families that accessed activities the activities have been rated
at an average of 4.6 out of 5; 80% respondents said Summer in Dorset has really
made a positive difference and 20% said it has made some difference. We have
surveyed families who received a pass but didn’t attend a session. The most
popular reason given for why: “There were no suitable activities for my
child/young person”.
Summer in Dorset had a very positive impact for a good number of families in
Dorset, however we have learnt through the process that with greater planning
we can do more. Several families have asked that the initiative be repeated next
summer (or even sooner). Our locality teams have demonstrated their ability to
deliver brilliant activities tailored to the children and families in their area. This will
be factored into our Early Help Strategy as part of, and independently of any
county-wide initiatives. We have worked with existing providers in a new and
flexible way and commissioned new providers during this programme. The
feedback has been very positive about working in a coordinated and joined up
way. Providers valued the additional support and assurances provided by the
Council in an uncertain environment. There is an opportunity to develop these
opportunities, build capacity, and see an increase in activities for vulnerable
children throughout the year.
An on-line offer was provided to families over the Easter 2021 break along with a
small number of face-to-face activities, over 700 young people took part.

10. Next steps
We do not yet know the full extent of the impact of Covid-19 on our children,
young people and families, but together as partnership we will make sure we are

Page 98

Page 12 of 15

able to respond effectively and continue to support our most vulnerable children
both through the pandemic but also as services increasingly move to educational
recovery activities.
We are taking forward the positive learning from our experience in Covid-19 to
help us accelerate our work to deliver the best services for children and young
people and to support professionals to work across organisational boundaries in
the interests of improving family and child outcomes.
We have sought, throughout this period to keep listening to the experiences of
our children, young people and families through the creation of regular foster
carer forums, young people forums, formal and informal view seeking. We also
recently undertook the Annual SEND Survey as a reflection on 2020 and will be
using the outcomes of that to inform the Council’s next three year SEND
Strategy.
Practice observation has continued, and following a brief break, we have
recommenced our auditing process. Close working with our Dorset Parent Carer
forum to both hear and respond together to the issues expressed by parents of
children with SEND has grown and strengthened through this pandemic. Coproduction is embedded and joint work on our communications is becoming ever
more established. We fully recognise that this has been a time of great anxiety
for children, young people and families and continue to work together to respond
to priority issues and concerns in our continuing response to this pandemic.
As multi-agency leaders we continued to focus on our collective ambition for all
our children, young people and families to deliver our new Children and Young
People’s Plan and the implementation of our new model of Children’s Services
delivery - Dorset Children Thrive.

11.

Financial Implications

The government provided significant levels of additional financial support to
Councils throughout 2020/21 pandemic with the majority of funding targeted to
support increased costs in adult social care and lockdown grants to support local
businesses. There was minimal additional funding ringfenced for Children’s
services meaning that any covid related pressures had to be absorbed by
existing budgets.

Page 99

Page 13 of 15

We do not yet know the full extent of the impact of Covid-19 on our children,
young people and families, and there may well be additional cost pressures in
the future. These will need to be assessed and where appropriate incorporated in
the Council’s medium term financial plans.

12.

Well-being and Health Implications

Emotional health and wellbeing of children and young people with SEND is a
priority for our services. We are working with colleagues in the CCG and from
Dorset Healthcare Trust to strengthening our services for our most vulnerable
children and young people with SEND.

13.

Climate implications

No climate implications have been identified in this report.

14.

Other Implications

No other implications have been identified.
15.

Risk Assessment

No Risks identified

16.

Equalities Impact Assessment

No equality impact assessment has been prepared as the report does not
recommend a change of policy.

17.

Appendices

Page 100

Page 14 of 15

There are no appendices.

18.

Background Papers

There are no background papers.

Page 101

Page 15 of 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY PROTOCOL BETWEEN BOURNEMOUTH,
CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL AND DORSET COUNCIL 2021
Purpose: To enable the Councils to establish joint health scrutiny committees on a
task and finish basis to scrutinise proposals for changes to the provision of NHS
services to residents in both Councils' areas without delay and in a way that provides
one consistent response.
1. The Council identified as the lead for the issue to be scrutinised will administer
the Joint Health Scrutiny meeting(s) and any associated issues. The Lead
Council will be identified by the relevant Directors from each Council in
consultation with the relevant Chairs of each Council’s Committee with the
Health Scrutiny function after determining if a matter needs to be referred to a
Joint Health Scrutiny Committee.
2. The Chair for any Joint Health Scrutiny Committee meeting will be provided by
the Council administering meeting arrangements. The Vice-Chair will be
provided by the other Council.
3. Each Joint Health Scrutiny Committee will comprise between 3 and 5 members
(which would include the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Joint Committee) from each
Council by agreement with the Chairs. Each Council to bear in mind its own
political proportionality. If the Chair is in agreement members can be identified
from outside of the Committees with the Statutory Health Scrutiny function.
However, Health Scrutiny Committee members would have priority.
4. The quorum for each meeting will be 2 from each council.
.
5. The procedural rules for each meeting will be those adopted by the Council
administering the meeting.
6. Members will adhere to their own Council’s code of conduct and make
appropriate declarations at meetings.
7.

The Chairs of the two Committees with the Statutory Health Scrutiny function in
consultation with the Directors will agree those issues that will be considered by
the Joint Scrutiny Committee and the scope of the joint scrutiny will be
considered at the first meeting.

8. Joint Health Scrutiny Protocol for the Committee will be considered at the first
meeting of any joint committees.
9. The Chairs will work with other relevant local authorities with the Statutory Health
Scrutiny function on the extent to which they should be involved with the work of
the Joint Committee.
10. A Joint Health Scrutiny Committee would have the power to decide whether to
refer a substantial variation in NHS services to the Secretary of State or decide
not to do so. Only in exceptional circumstances would the Committee with the
Statutory Health Scrutiny function of either Council substitute its view in place of

Page 103

the Joint Committee on the question of referral to the Secretary of State. The
exceptional ability to recover a delegation only arises before a joint decision has
been made and does not enable a decision, once reached by the joint
committee, to be re-made by an individual committee with health scrutiny
functions. Any decision on the question of referral to the Secretary of State,
whether it is made together at a Joint Committee or by an individual committee
with health scrutiny functions, will be reached in accordance with principles for
good decision making; that is to say proportionately, after consultation,
consideration of evidence and the taking of professional advice.
11. A written report of findings and recommendations from a Joint Health Scrutiny
Committee to be sent to the relevant NHS organisation(s) identifying a timeframe
in which to respond.
12. It is acknowledged that there are NHS organisations outside of the county which
may affect the residents of BCP and Dorset Councils and therefore would be
taken into consideration when identifying any potential items for joint scrutiny.
13. That consideration be given to the involvement of representatives of Healthwatch
and their role in any joint scrutiny work.
14. That a report back is provided to each Council’s Committee on the outcome of
any joint scrutiny undertaken.

Page 104

People and Health Scrutiny Committee – Forward Plan
Title

Description

Purbeck
Ambulance Car

To scrutinise any
detailed changes
to the ongoing
provision of
healthcare
services in the
Purbeck
community.

Update from
Working Groups
TBC

Page 105

Community and
Prevention

Requested by

Report Author

Portfolio Holder/s

Chairman

Tim Goodson, Chief
Officer, CCG

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care
and Health

3 August
2021

Chairman

20
September
2021

Committee

Claire Shiels, Corporate
Director
Commissioning, Quality
and Partnerships.
Laura Cornette,
Corporate Policy and
Performance Officer

Portfolio Holder for
Children, Education,
Skills and Early
Help, Portfolio
Holder for Customer
and Community
Services, Portfolio
Holder for Adult
Social Care and
Health

20
September
2021

Chairman

Anthony Douglas,
Safeguarding
Partnership

Portfolio Holder for
Children, Education,
Skills and Early Help

Other Meetings
(CLT, SLT,
Cabinet etc)

Chairman, People
and Health Scrutiny
Committee

Cabinet

Agenda Item 9

Safeguarding
(Children) Annual
Report

This is an update
report at the
request of the
Committee on
280121, to provide
an update on the
communities and
support provided
throughout Covid,
including the
arrangements for
distribution of
grants to the
community and
voluntary sector.
Post Cabinet
review

Date of
Committee
Meeting
3 August
2021

Description

Date of
Committee
Meeting

Dorset Children
Thrive (originally
Blueprint for
Change item)

To scrutinise the
implementation of
the new model in
Children’s
Services.

20
September
2021

Performance
Scrutiny

A review of the
relevant Dorset
Council
performance
dashboard to
inform the Scrutiny
Committee’s
Forward Plan and
identify items for
deep dives.

20
September
2021

Page 106

Title

Adults
Safeguarding
Annual Report
TBC

1 November
2021

Budget Scrutiny

Joint with Place
and Resources
Scrutiny
Committee

10
December
2021

Integrated Care
system response
to winter and
crisis pressure

TBC

31 January
2022

Requested by

David Bonner

Report Author

Portfolio Holder/s

Theresa Leavy Executive Director for
People – Children
Claire Shiels, Corporate
Director for
Commissioning, Quality
and Partnerships
David Bonner, Service
Manager Business
Intelligence and
Performance

Portfolio Holder for
Children, Education,
Skills and Early Help

Vivienne Broadhurst
Executive Director for
People – Adults

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care
and Health

Lesley Hutchinson,
Corporate Director of
Commissioning,

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care
and Health

Portfolio Holder for
Corporate
Development and
Change

Other Meetings
(CLT, SLT,
Cabinet etc)

Title

Description

Date of
Committee
Meeting

Page 107

Performance
Scrutiny

A review of the
relevant Dorset
Council
performance
dashboard to
inform the Scrutiny
Committee’s
Forward Plan and
identify items for
deep dives.

31 January
2022

Integrated Care
System update
through winter

TBC

14 March
2022

Potential
agenda items to
be considered
Scrutiny of
Dorset's Whole
Life Offer Inquiry
Day

Requested by

David Bonner

Report Author

Portfolio Holder/s

Vanessa Read, Director
of Nursing, DCCG
David Bonner, Service
Manager for Business
Intelligence and
Performance

Portfolio Holder for
Corporate
Development and
Change

Vanessa Read, Director Portfolio Holder for
of Nursing, DCCG
Adult Social Care
and Health

Other Meetings
(CLT, SLT,
Cabinet etc)

This page is intentionally left blank

The Cabinet Forward Plan - May to August 2021 (Publication date 24 May 2021)
For the period 1 JUNE 2021 to 30 SEPTEMBER 2021
Explanatory Note:
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Cabinet and Council. It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the Committee.
The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions. Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private part of the
meeting.
Definition of Key Decisions
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Cabinet which are likely to -

Page 109

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of
the relevant local authority.”

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act. Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity.
Cabinet Portfolio Holders 2020/21
Spencer Flower
Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications
Peter Wharf
Deputy Leader / Corporate Development and Change
Gary Suttle
Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy
Ray Bryan
Highways, Travel and Environment
Tony Ferrari
Economic Growth, Assets & Property
David Walsh
Planning
Jill Haynes
Customer and Community Services
Andrew Parry
Children, Education, Skills and Early Help
Laura Miller
Adult Social Care and Health
Graham Carr-Jones
Housing and Community Safety

Subject / Decision

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Officer Contact

June

Dorset Council Budget Quarterly
Performance Report - Q4

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Audit
and
Committee
19 Apr 2021

Governance

Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Commercial
and Capital Strategy

Jim McManus, Corporate
Director - Finance and
Commercial
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Deputy Leader Corporate
Development and
Change

Rebecca Forrester,
Business Intelligence &
Performance
rebecca.forrester@dorsetco
uncil.gov.uk, Elizabeth
Crocker
Elizabeth.Crocker1@dorset
cc.gov.uk
Chief Executive (Matt
Prosser)

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Leader of the Council

Rebecca Forrester,
Business Intelligence &
Performance
rebecca.forrester@dorsetco
uncil.gov.uk, Nina Coakley,
Programme Manager
n.coakley@dorsetcc.gov.uk
Chief Executive (Matt
Prosser)

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

Page 110

Dorset Council Plan Quarterly
Performance Report - Q4
Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
To consider performance against the
council plan January to March 2021.

Update on Dorset Council's
response to Covid-19
Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
To update Cabinet on Dorset
Council’s Covid-19 response.

Subject / Decision

Redlands Community Sports Hub

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade
Flood and Coastal Risk
Management Strategic Outline
Case
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
This project will utilise the adopted
2020 strategy to produce a Strategic
Outline Case (SOC) that gains
approval from the Environment
Agency’s Large Project Review
Group. It will provide companion
document to the adopted 2020
strategy, containing additional
technical detail in line with the
Environment Agency’s guidance for
producing SOC’s

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Street Naming and Numbering
Policy

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Officer Contact

Portfolio Holder for
Customer and
Community Services

Paul Rutter, Service
Manager for Leisure
Services
paul.rutter@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Place
and
Resources
Overview Committee
1 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Highways, Travel and
Environment

Sarah Cairns, Service
Manager - Major Projects
sarah.cairns@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Place
and
Resources
Overview Committee
1 Jun 2021

Deputy Leader Corporate
Development and
Change

Emma Webb, Business
Solutions Analyst
emma.webb@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt
To consider a report on Redland
Community Sports Hub.

Page 111

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
The Street Naming and Numbering
policy provides a framework for
Dorset Council to operate the service
effectively and efficiently for the
benefit of Dorset Council residents,
businesses and visitors.

Subject / Decision

Asset Transfer Policy

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Dave Thompson, Corporate
Director for Property &
Assets
dave.thompson@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care and
Health

Lesley Hutchinson,
Corporate Director for
Adults Commissioning
Lesley.Hutchinson@dorsetc
c.gov.uk
Vivienne Broadhurst

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care and
Health

Lesley Hutchinson,
Corporate Director for
Adults Commissioning
Lesley.Hutchinson@dorsetc
c.gov.uk
Vivienne Broadhurst

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Customer and
Community Services

John Newcombe, Service
Manager, Licensing &
Community Safety
john.newcombe@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

To review the policy for the transfer of
assets to towns, parish and
community groups.
Dorset Care Framework
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Page 112

To review and approve the new
framework for Adult Social Care
Learning Disability and Mental
Health Non Framework Contracts

Officer Contact

Portfolio Holder for
Economic Growth,
Assets and Property

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Place
and
Resources
Overview Committee
1 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt
To consider a review of encompass
contract
Taxi Licensing Policy
Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
Taxi Licensing Policy for Hackney
Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles,
drivers and operators, bringing
together the predecessor council’s
Taxi Licensing Policies

Subject / Decision

Arne Parish Neighbourhood Plan
2018 - 2034

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Ed Gerry, Prinicpal
Planning Policy Team
Leader
ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov
.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Ed Gerry, Prinicpal
Planning Policy Team
Leader
ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov
.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Philip Reese, Senior
Planning Policy Officer
philip.reese@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Philip Reese, Senior
Planning Policy Officer
philip.reese@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
The item relates to the making
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan
following on from an independent
examination and referendum.
Blandford + Neighbourhood Plan
2011 - 2033

Page 113

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Chickerell Town Neighbourhood
Plan 2019 - 2036
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
The item relates to the making
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan
following on from an independent
examination and referendum.
Milton Abbas Neighbourhood
Development Plan 2019 - 2031
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
The item relates to the making
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan
following on from an independent
examination and referendum.

Officer Contact

Subject / Decision

Portland Neighbourhood Plan 2017
- 2031

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Joanne Langrish-Merritt,
Senior Planning Policy
Officer joanne.langrishmerritt@dorsetcouncil.gov.u
k
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Joanne Langrish-Merritt,
Senior Planning Policy
Officer joanne.langrishmerritt@dorsetcouncil.gov.u
k
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Philip Reese, Senior
Planning Policy Officer
philip.reese@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
The item relates to the making
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan
following on from an independent
examination and referendum.
Puddletown Neighbourhood Plan
2019 - 2031

Page 114

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
The item relates to the making
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan
following on from an independent
examination and referendum.
Shaftesbury Neighbourhood Plan
2019 - 2031
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
The item relates to the making
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan
following on from an independent
examination and referendum.

Officer Contact

Subject / Decision

Management of Council Owned
Tree Policy

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Officer Contact

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
22 Jun 2021

Place
and
Resources
Overview Committee
1 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Highways, Travel and
Environment

Matt Reeks, Service
Manager for Coast and
Greenspace
matt.reeks@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
27 Jul 2021

People
and
Health
Overview Committee
6 Jul 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Housing and
Community Safety

Sharon Attwater, Service
Manager for Housing
Strategy and Performance
sharon.attwater@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, People Adults

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
Recommendation from Place &
Resources Overview Committee
The policy defines the way in which
Dorset Council will manage the Trees
that the Council own and are
responsible for.
July

Page 115

Dorset Council Homelessness &
Rough Sleeper Strategy
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
A Homelessness & Rough Sleeper
Strategy for Dorset Council replacing
previous district and borough
strategies. To determine, prioritise
and explain the Council's strategy
and action plan to meet our objectives
to reduce homelessness and rough
sleeping and improve services
available to those households.

Subject / Decision

Dorset Council Budget Quarterly
Performance Report - Q1

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
27 Jul 2021

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
27 Jul 2021

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
27 Jul 2021

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Commercial
and Capital Strategy

Jim McManus, Corporate
Director - Finance and
Commercial
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Andrew Galpin,
Infrastructure & Delivery
Planning Manager
andrew.galpin@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Portfolio Holder for
Planning

Nick Cardnell, Senior
Planning Officer
Nick.cardnell@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
To consider the Budget Performance
report for Quarter 1.
Review of Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
expenditure

Place
and
Resources
Scrutiny Committee
13 Jul 2021

Officer Contact

Page 116

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
Recommendation from Place and
Resources Scrutiny Committee
Position report on CIL governance
and expenditure to date. Report to
provide a platform for potential review
to ensure that developer contributions
end up in the right places and that
contributions are put back into
community facilities.
Wimborne St Giles Neighbourhood
Plan Area Designation
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
A final determination as to whether to
designate a Wimborne St Giles
Neighbourhood plans area.

Subject / Decision

Part of Steamer plot land sale at
Dorset Innovation Park

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
27 Jul 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Economic Growth,
Assets and Property

Dave Thompson, Corporate
Director for Property &
Assets
dave.thompson@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
27 Jul 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Economic Growth,
Assets and Property

Dave Thompson, Corporate
Director for Property &
Assets
dave.thompson@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place
(John Sellgren)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
7 Sep 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Children, Education,
Skills and Early Help

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt
To approve sale of land within
Steamer area at Dorset innovation
Park.
Part of Zenith plot land sale at
Dorset Innovation Park

Officer Contact

Page 117

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt
Cabinet approval for the sale of land
within Zenith area at Dorset
Innovation Park.
September

Annual Safeguarding Board Report
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open
To receive the Annual Safeguarding
Board Report from Anthony Douglas
Independent Chair and Scrutineer of
the Pan-Dorset Safeguarding
Partnership

Executive Director, People Children (Theresa Leavy)

Subject / Decision

Additional Procurement Forward
Plan Report over £500k (2021 - 22)

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Officer Contact

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
7 Sep 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Highways, Travel and
Environment, Portfolio
Holder for Finance,
Commercial and
Capital Strategy

Dawn Adams, Service
Manager for Commercial
and Procurement
dawn.adams@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk
Executive Director,
Corporate Development Section 151 Officer (Aidan
Dunn)

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
5 Oct 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Adult Social Care and
Health

Jeanette Young, Interim
Head of Commissioning &
Improvement
jeanette.young@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Vivienne Broadhurst

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Page 118

Cabinet is required to approve all key
decisions with financial
consequences of £500k or more. A
procurement forward plan report for
2021-22 was approved by Cabinet on
2 March 2021. As stated in the said
report, as service and transformation
plans are developed it may be
necessary to bring further approval
requests to Cabinet.
October

Tricuro Options Paper
Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt

Subject / Decision

Decision Maker

Date the
Decision is
Due

Other Committee(s)
consulted and
Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder

Officer Contact

November

Communities Strategy
Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open
The Communities Strategy will shape
how Dorset Council engages and
enables of communities.

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date
7 Dec 2021

People
and
Health
Overview Committee
9 Nov 2021

Portfolio Holder for
Customer and
Community Services

Laura Cornette, Corporate
Policy & Performance
Officer
Laura.cornette@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Chief Executive (Matt
Prosser)

Page 119

Private/Exempt Items for Decision
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Information relating to any individual.
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

Page 120
12

